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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Mayor and City Council 
of the City of Wheeling, West Virginia: 

Weirton Office 
3600 West Street, Suite 4 

Weirton, West Virginia 26062 

304748·5550 
Fax 304 748·5551 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Wheeling, West Virginia, as of and 
for the year ended June 30, 2009, which collectively comprise thc City's basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents, These tinancial statements are the responsibility of 
the City of Wheeling, West Virginia's management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on 
these financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business­
type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Wheeling, West Virginia as of June 30, 2009, and the 
respective changes in financial position, and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for the year 
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 
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In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our 
report dated March 24, 2010, on our consideration of the City of Wheeling, West Virginia's 
internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that 
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the 
results of our audit. 

The Management Discussion and Analysis and the Required Supplementary 
Information on pages 4 through 22 and 97 through 100, respectively, are not a required part of 
the basic financial statements but are supplementary information required by accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have applied certain limited 
procedures, which consisted principally of inquires of management regarding the methods of 
measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did not 
audit the information and express no opinion on it. 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial 
statements that collectively comprise the City of Wheeling's basic financial statements. The 
introductory section, combining fund financial statements and schedule of expenditures of state 
awards are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements. The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is 
presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by U.S. Office of Management and 
Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, and 
is also not a required part of the basic financial statements of City of Wheeling, West Virginia. 
The combining fund financial statements and the schedules of expenditures of federal and state 
awards have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic 
financial statements taken as a whole. The introductory section has not been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we 
express no opinion on it. 

Wheeling, West Virginia, 
March 24. 20 I O. 
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CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 
Year Ended June 30, 2009 

This section of the City of Wheeling's (the City's) annual financial report presents a discussion 
and analysis of the City's financial performance during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, 
Please read it in conjunction with the Independent Auditor's Report at the front of this report 
and the City's financial statements and notes following this section. As in the prior year, the City 
of Wheeliug has prepared the financial statements based on the guidelines provided in 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34. The intent of this 
discussion and analysis is to look at the City's financial performance as a whole. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

• GASB Statement No. 34 requires government-wide financial results to be reported on a full 
accrual basis compared to modified accrual basis. Full accrual measures resources on a long­
term economic basis, whereas, modified accrual accounting measures near-term changes in 
resources. 

• General Fund revenues were IOJ % of budget, while expenses were 94% of budget, resulting 
in a record budget surplus of $1,772,533. Encumbered amount was $279,639 resulting in an 
unencumbered balance of $1 ,492,894. 

• Water Pollution Control Division (WPCD) operating revenues were $5,089,156 which was a 
7% decrease over the prior year. WPCD operating expense were 4,798,281 which was a 0.3% 
increase over the prior year. 

• WPCD is in the process of seeking approval for numerous projeets and funding with the 
West Virginia Infrastructure and Jobs Development Council. 

• Water's operating revenues were $5,984,486, which was a .8% increase over the prior year. 
Water's operating expenses were $4,912,158 which was a 13.4% increase over the prior year 

• The City's financial reporting software as well as hardware were upgraded starting in April 
2009 for all departments and substantially completed by February 2010. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The City of Wheeling annnal report consists of two sections - (1) the Introductory Section and (2) 
the Financial Section, which includes the Management Discussion and Analysis, the Statement of 
Net Assets and Statement of Activities to report the City's financial position on the government­
wide basis of accounting, It also includes fund financial statements, notes to the financial 
statements, reqnired Supplementary Information (RSI) that further explains and supports the 
information in the financial statements and Accompanying Information, which includes the 
Schedule of Federal Awards. 

The government-wide financial statements provide both long-term and short-term information 
about the City's overall financial status. The fund financial statements focus on the individual 
parts of the City government, reporting the City's operations in more detail than the government­
wide statements. Both perspectives (government-wide and fund) allow the user to address 
relevant questions, broaden the basis of comparison (year-to-year or government-to-government) 
and enhance the City's accountability. Other non-financial factors such as changes in the City's 
property tax base and the condition of the City's roads and other infrastructure may need to be 
considercd to assess the overall health of the City of Wheeling. 

Required Components of the City of Wheeling's Financial Statements Figure 1 

Required Financial Information Information Type 

f Managemenfs Discussion and Analysis 

I RSI 

I 
I I 

Government-wide Fund Financial 
Financial Statements Statements Basic Financial Statements 

I I 
I 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
Basic Financial Statements 

I 
I 

RSI (other than MD&A) 
! RSI 
I 

5 



Government-wide financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of City finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector 
business. 

The statement of net assets presents information on all City assets and liabilities, with the 
difference between the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets 
may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or 
deteriorating. 

The statement of activities presents information showing how net assets changed during the most 
recent fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving 
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Thus, revenues and 
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future 
fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 

Both of these government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from 
other functions that are intended to recover all or in part a portion of these costs through user fees 
and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City include general 
government, including community development, public safety, street and transportation, health 
and sanitation, culture and recreation, and social services. The business-type activities of the City 
include sewer, solid waste and recycling, water works, and parking. The City includes one 
separate legal entity in its report - the Greater Wheeling Sports and Entertainment Authority 
(WesBanco Arena). Although legally separate, this "component unit" is important because the 
City is financially accountable for it and partly provides operational funding. Separately issued 
financial statements are available upon request from the Authority. 

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 23-25 of this report. 

Fnnd financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that are used to maintain 
control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, 
Iikc other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate finance­
related legal compliance. All of the funds in the City can be divided into three categories, 
governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 

Governmental funds - Most of the City's basic services are included in government funds, which 
are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial 
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of 
spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the 
fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing 
requirements. Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the 
governmental-wide financial statement, it is useful to compare the information presented in 
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governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the 
government-wide tinancial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term 
impact of the government's near-term financial decisions. Both the governmental fund balance 
sheet and the governmental fund, statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and 
governmental activities. 

Proprietary Funds. - The City of Wheeling maintains three different proprietary funds. These 
enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. The City of Wheeling uses enterprise funds to account for 
its Sewer, Water and Parking activities. 

The proprietary funds financial statements can be found on pages 30-32 of this report. 

Fiduciaty Funds - Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties 
outside of the government. Fiduciary funds are not retlected in the government-wide financial 
statement because the resources of those funds are not available to support the programs of the 
City. The tiduciary fund tinancial statements can be found on pages 33-34 and 103-105 of this 
report. Agency Funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally 
among the City's various functions. The City uses agency funds to account for Savings Bonds. 
The agency funds statement of net assets can be found on page 112 of this report. 

Notes to the tinancial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a 
full understanding of the information provided in the government-wide financial statements. The 
notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 35-96 of this report 

Required Supplementary Information. In addition to the basic financial statements and 
accompanying notes, this report also presents required supplementary information. Required 
supplementary information can be found on pages 97-100 of this report 

Government-Wide Financial Analysis 

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's tinancial 
position. In the case of the City of Wheeling, assets exceeded liabilities by $71,913,087 at the 
close of the fiscal year ending June 30, 2009 (Table 1 - Statement of Net Assets) compared to 
$71,596,784 at the end of the previous fiscal year, representing an increase of $316,303 in net 
assets. The increase in net assets was mostly due to increases in capital assets from large Water 
Department projects but restricted assets were deereased to fund these projects. 

The largest portion of Wheeling's net assets, 81.2 %, rcHects its investment in capital assets (e.g. 
land. buildings, utility plants, vehicles, and equipment). less any related debt used to acquire 
those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these assets to provide services to citizens: 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the investment in 
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capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay 
debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themsel ves cannot be used to 
liquidate these liabilities. 

City of Wheeling, West Virginia 
Statement of Net Assets 
June 30, 2009 and 2008 Table 1 

Govemmental BusinesHype 
Activities Activities Totals 

FY 2009 FY 2008 FY 2009 FY 2008 FY 2009 FY 2008 

Curren! and other assets $ 14.513.908 $ 13,625,996 $ 3.067,244 $ 3.119.937 $ 17.581,152 S 16.745.933 
Restricted assets 822371 855.608 6.474.849 8.985.049 7.297,220 9.840.657 
Capital assets 28.695.252 28,089.675 65,014.796 64.854.763 93.710.048 92,944.438 

Total assets 44.031.531 42.571.279 74.556,889 76.959.749 118.588.420 119.531.028 

Current and other liabilities 5.725.281 5.168.481 3390.944 2.978.898 9,1l6.225 8.147.379 
Long-term liabilities 8.209.862 8.21 3.006 29349.246 31.573.859 37.559.108 39.786,865 

Total liabilities 13.935,143 13.381.487 32,740.190 34.552.757 46.675.333 47.934.244 

Net assets: 
Invested in capital assets 

(net of related debt) 25.253.269 25.078.213 33.142.482 30.835.700 58,395,751 55,913,913 
Restricted net assets 1.817.996 1.744,448 6.474.850 8.985.048 8.292,846 10.729.496 
LJnrcstncted net assets 3.02),123 l.IYY.J67 2,5~6,244 4,953.3'/) 

Total net assets ~ ~g Q2~ 3~§ $ mi222' ~ ~I al§ ~22 ! ~') 4Q~ 22~ ! ll21~Qil ! ZI 52Q ZS~ 

Another portion of the City's net assets, (11.5 %), represents restricted net assets which 
represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. 

The remaining balance of the City's net assets (7.3 %) represents unrestricted net assets which 
would be used for meeting the City's short and long-term obligations. 

Percentage 
Change 

4.99% 
·25.851! 
O.829C 

-O.79<k 

11.89o/c 

-S.60iK 

·2.63% 

4.44';( 

·22.71 I! 
),41% 

~ 

Governmental activities, Governmental activities increased the City's net assets by $0,72 
million, compared to an increase of $0,85 million in tlscal year 2008 (Table 2 - Statement of 
Governmental Activities). Overall tlscal year 2009 revenues were 2.84% higher than the previous 
year. The increase was largely due to the City's ability to get various operating grants for various 
projects and video lottery revenue from table games. Expenses were 3,16% higher than the 
previous tlscal year, but this is mostly due to increases in Public Safety and Streets and 
Transportation, 
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City of Wheeling, West Virginia 
Statement of Activities - Governmental 
June 30, 2009 and 2008 Table 2 

Governmental Percentage 

Activities Change 

FY2009 FY2008 

Revenues: 
Program Revenues 

Charges for services $ 6,557,023 $ 6215,448 5,50% 

Operating grants and contributions 2,483,328 1,673,697 4837% 
Capital grants and contributions 293,596 1,497,004 ,80.39% 

General Revenues 
Property taxes 5,244,223 4,961,563 5.70% 

Business and occupation taxes 9,958,173 9,628,888 3.42% 

Utility taxes 1,316,861 1,248,237 5.50% 

Hotel/motel tax 1,131,071 1,073,618 5.35% 

Liquor sales 309,277 315,257 ,1.90% 

Miscellaneous taxes 330,691 298,995 10.60% 

Video lottery and table gaming 2,198,603 1,798,117 22.27O/c-

Miscellaneous revenues 316,182 426,497 ,25.87% 

Unrestricted investment earnings 67,947 256,442 ,73.50% 
Gain (loss) on sale of assets 20,875 

Total revenues 30.227,850 29,393,763 2.84% 

Expenses: 
General government 3,971,271 4,045,396 ,1.83% 

Public safety 15,246,493 14,565.083 4.68% 

Streets and transportation 5,962,092 5,718,126 4.27% 

Sanitation 1,848,634 1,803,857 2.48% 

Culture and recreation 2,314,609 2,300,404 0.62% 

Social services 71,967 76,206 ,5.56% 

Debt service 448.269 439,179 2.07% 

Total expenses 29,863,335 28,948,251 3.16% 

Increa<>e (decrease) in fiet assets before transfer: 364,515 445,512 ,181.82% 

Transfers 353,884 401,594 -11.88% 

Increase (decrease) in net assets 718.399 847.106 -15.19% 

Net a,,>sets - beginning (as originnally stated) 29,189,792 28,342,686 2.99% 

Prior period adjustment 188,197 

Net assets - beginning (restated) 29,377,989 28.342,686 3.65% 

Net assets - ending ~ ~Q Q2G ;JaS ~ .~ 1~n2;l ~ 
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Total revenues were $30.2 million. Three main areas represent 71.9 percent of total revenues. 
Approximately 17.3 percent of the City's revenues came from property taxes, 32.9 percent came 
from B&O taxes, and 21.7 percent came from charges for services (Chart 1 - Revenue by Source 
- Governmental Activities). 

Revenue by Source - Governmental Activities 

City of \\lwelillg 
Sourr!'s of Rewnut" for Fisc,d Year 2009 

Governlllt'ntlll Activities 

IV!isce-Uaneous 
Revenlles 

yideo Lottery 
Proceeds 

""'3°0 

Opel atill~ (,nuts 
and CoutliblltiOllS 

Capital G1 ants and 

Gain (loss) on 
SaieofAssets 

fJ IOn 

Chart 1 

Even though total revenues from governmental activities for FY2009 exceeded FY2008 revenues 
the sources of these revenues remained relatively the same on a percentage basis with the prior 
year. 
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The total cost of functions and programs was $29.9 million. A significant expense in the 
statement of activities, compared to the fund statements, is depreciation. Current year 
depreciation for governmental activities was $1,656,358 (Chart 2 - Expenses by Function). 

Expenses by Function - Governmental Activities 

Health and 
Sanitation 

6.2(ff 

City of Wheeling 
Functional Expenses for Fiscal Year 2009 

Ciovcrnmental Activities 

Gem.'ral 
Government 

13.3'ih 

Cbart2 

The City's expenses from governmental activities increased by $915,084 in FY2009 overthe 
prior year but, the expenses by function remained relatively the same percentage basis with the 
prior year. 
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Business-type activities. 

City of Wheeling, West Virginia 
Statement of Activities - Business 
June 30, 2009 and 2008 Table 3 

Business Percentage 

Activities Change 

FY2009 FY2008 

Revenues: 
Program Revenues 

Charges for services 

Water $ 5,984,486 $ 6,031,142 ,0.77% 

Sewer 5,089,156 5,467,287 ,6.92% 

Parking 782,538 790,948 ,1.06% 

Capital grants and contributions 7,100 16,100 ,55.90% 

General Revenues 

Miscellaneous revenues 0.00% 

Unrestricted investment earnings 100,639 406,119 ,75.22% 
Gain (loss) on sale of assets 0.00% 

Total revenues 11,963,919 12,711,596 ,5.88% 

Expenses: 
Water 5,832,977 5,294,401 10.17% 
Sewer 5,310,771 5,337,343 ,0.50% 
Parking 675,758 583,688 15.77% 

Total expenses 11,819,506 11,215,432 5.39% 

Increase (decrease) in net assets before transfer 144.413 1,496,164 ,90.35% 

Transfers (353,884) (401,594) ,11.88% 

Increase (decrease) in oct assets (209,471) 1,094,570 ,119.14% 

Net assets - beginning 42,406,992 41,312.422 2.65% 

Prior period adjustments (380,822.00) 

Net assets - beginning restated 42,026,170 

Net assets - ending S 41,816,099 ~ 
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Business-type activities decreased the City's net assets hy $209.471 compared to an increase of 
$1,094,570 in the prior fiscal year. 

Key elements of the change are as follows: 

• Water department activities increased net assets by $196,370. 
• Sewer department activities decreased net assets by $232,396. 
• Parking Fund activities decreased net assets by $173.445. 
• Charges for Services decreased by $433,197. 

Revenue by Source - Business-type Activities 

Charges for 
Services 
99,1% 

Expenses by Function - Business-type Activities 

Other 
Re'venues 

O.f>% 

I ~xpensc by Function 

Parking 
5.7% 

13 

Chart 3 
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Financial Analysis of the City's Funds 

As noted earlier, the City of Wheeling uses fund accounting to insure compliance with finance 
related legal requirements. 

Governmental Funds. The major fund types are the General, Coal Severance, and the Home 
Funds. The non-major funds are combined in Non-major Governmental Funds and include the 
Debt Service, Community Development, Consolidated Investment, Tax Increment Financing, 
Municipal Financial Stabilization Funds, and Public Safety Fund. 

As of June 30, 2009, the City of Wheeling had its governmental funds reporting a total fund 
balance of $10.3 million. This is an increase of $0.36 million over the prior fiscal year. 

The elements of this increase are as follows: 
• The General Fund reported an increase of $666,034. 
• The Coal Severance Fund reported an increase of $1,391. 
• Non-major Governmental Funds showed a decrease of $303,934. 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

Over the course of the fiscal year, the City Council revised the City budget several times. These 
budget amendments fall into three categories. The first category includes amendments and 
supplemental appropriations that were approved shortly after the beginning of the fiscal year and 
reflect the actual beginning balances (versus the amounts estimated in February 2008 during the 
budget process). The second category includes changes that the Council made for specific 
additional expenditures which were covered by the City's contingency or additional revenues. 
Finally, Council approved several increases in appropriations to prevent budget overruns. 

Significant budget revisions included: 

• $105,000 increase for additional fuel and utility costs. 
• $47,359 increase for various federal grants. 
• $363,156 increase for contingencies. 
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City of Wheeling, West Virginia 
Summarized General Fund Highlights 
For the year ended June 30, 2009 Table 4 

Actual Variance Actual 
Original Amended Budget (Cash) Over (Under) Modified Accrual 
Budget Budget Basis Final Budget Basis 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 16,881,621 $ 17,031,621 $ 17,311,079 $ 279,458 $ 17,310,609 
Licenses and pennits 793,000 793,000 791,641 (1359) 807,288 
Intergovernmental 724,828 772,187 924,014 151,827 886,699 
Charges for services 5,278,935 5,333,935 5,063,231 (270,704) 5,305,944 
Fines and forfeits 383,000 383,000 391,810 8,810 391,810 
Video Lottery and Table Games 1,800,000 2,000,000 2,147,361 147.361 2,198,603 
Interest 80,619 80,619 14,951 (65.668) 14,951 
Other 460,000 460,000 518,445 158,008 

Total 26,402,003 26,854,362 27,162,532 308,170 27.073,912 
Fund balance 792,000 (1,332,776) 

Total revenue and fund balance 27,194,003 28.187,138 27,162,532 (1,024,606) 27,073,912 

Expenditures 
General Government 3,231,891 3,615.345 3,081,082 (534,263) 2,949,742 
Public Safety 14,416,295 14,799,685 14,441,879 (357,806) 14,149,070 
Streets and maintenance 6.256,788 6,402,151 5,992,856 (409,295) 6,002,590 
Health and sanitation 1,676,442 1,713,136 1506,380 (206,756) 1,497,248 
Culture and recreation 1.774,140 1,817,974 1.689,277 (128,697) 1,688,921 
Social services 78,447 78,847 71,445 (7,402) 3,101 
Debt Service 

Principal retirement 204,950 
Interest 

Total 27,434,003 28,427,138 26,782,919 (1,644,219) 26,530.358 

Revenue over (under) expenditw (240,000) (240,000) 379.613 619,613 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Proceeds under capital leases 106,940 
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 20,875 20,875 20,875 
Transfers in 1,240,000 1,240,000 1,240,000 1.240,000 
TrJ.l1sfers out (1,000,000) (1.000,000) (1,000.000) ( l,?45.335) 

Total other financing sources 
and (uses) 240,000 240,000 260,875 20,875 122.480 

Net change in fund balance 640.488 640,488 666,034 

Fund Balance, June 30, 2008 4304,915 

Fund Balance, June 30, 2009 $ 497 0949 
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The General Fund is the general operating checking account of thc City of Wheeling. As of June 
30, 2009 the checking account balance was $1,972,533, which is $1,492,895 greater than the 
budgeted carryover of $200,000 and encumbrances of $279,638. This budgeted carryover plus 
the Municipal Financial Stabilization Fund are necessary so the City may have the cash flow to 
pay payroll and invoices that will occur during the start of the new fiscal year and at other times 
of low cash flows and/or higher than usual cash payouts. 

Revenues in the General Fund were similar to the prior year except for increased video lottery 
due to table games and a decrease in interest revenue, FY2009 exceeded the prior year by 
$933,453. 

City of Wheeling, West Virginia 
Statement of General Fund - Budget Basis - Revenue by Source 
June 30, 2009 and 2008 TableS 

Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount 

Taxes $ 17,311,079 63.73% $ 16,570.651 63.18% $ 740.428 4.47% 

Licenses and Pennits 791.641 2,91% 786.927 3.00% 4.714 0.60% 

Intergovernmental 924,014 3.40% 932.406 3.55% (8.392) ·0.90% 

Charges for Services 5.063,231 18.64% 5.106.656 19.47% (43.425) ·0.85% 

Fines and Forfeits 391,810 1.44% 356.665 1.36% 35.145 9.85% 

Video Lottery 2.147,361 7.91% 1.784.844 6.80% 362.517 20.31 % 

lnteres[ 14,951 0.06% 64.226 0.24% (49.275) ~76.72% 

Other 518.445 1.91% 626.704 2.39% (108,259) 

Total Revenues ~ ?llg, ~;p J..QQ.ll!lS; $ ~~ ,~9 Q22 J..QQ.ll!lS; $ 2J~ 4~J ,{S6% 

City of Wheeling, West Virginia 
Statement of General Fund - Budget Basis - Expenditures by Function 
June 30, 2009 and 2008 Table 6 

General Government $ 3,081,082 11.39% $ 3,155,556 11,64% $ (74,474) 

Public Safety 14,441,879 53.40% 14,219,939 52.45% 221,940 

Streets and Maintenance 5,992,856 22.16% 6,064,774 22.37% (71,918) 

Health and Sanitation 1.506,380 5.57% 1,605,036 5.92% (98,656) 

Culrure and Recreation 1,689,277 6,25% 1,712,129 6.32% (22,852) 
Social Services 71,445 0.26% 0,27% 

Total Expenditures 26,782,919 99.04% 26,829,981 98.97% (47.062) 
Net Transfers 260.875 0.96% 1,03% (18,129) 

Total Expenditures and 
Other Financing Uses ~ ?7 0;;11 124 lQO gQ~ ~ ,7 IQ~ 28j 109 OO~ ~ 'Q~ 12IJ 
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Capital Assets and Debt 
Capital Assets. The City of Wheeling's investment in capital assets for its governmental and 
business-type activities as ofJune 30, 2009, amounts to S93,71O,089 (net of accumulated 
depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings and systems, utility plant, 
vehicle and equipment, and construction in progress. Infrastructure assets (bridges, streets, street 
lighting and traffic signals) were included by June 30, 2007 as required by GASB Statement No. 
34. The total increase in the City's investment in capital assets for the fiscal year ending June 30, 
2009 was approximately 0.8%. Construction in progress increased due to Sewer and Water 
Improvements. Overall, net capital assets increased by $765,651 over the previous fiscal year. 

City of Wheeling, West Virginia 
Statement of Capital Assets 
(net of accumulated depreciation) 
June 30, 2009 and 2008 

Governmental Activities 

FY 2009 FY 2008 

Land $ 3,651,224 $ 2,985,284 

Land Improvements 1,130,313 973.485 

Parking Structures 

and Equipment 

Utility plant 

Building and improvemen 5.196,937 5,504,001 

Vehicles and equipment 4,978,667 5,026,552 

Infrastructure 13,578,159 13,600,353 
Construction in progress 159,992 

Total $ 28,089,675 

Table 7 

Business-type Activities Totals 

FY 2009 FY2008 FY 2009 FY 2008 

$ 1,515,414 $ 1,450,414 $ 5,166,638 $ 4,435,698 

1,130,313 973.485 

1.127,973 1,228,951 1,127,973 1,228,951 

58,076,551 60,267,648 58,076,551 60,267,648 

5,196,937 5,504,001 

4,978,667 5,026,552 

13,578,159 13,600,353 
4,294,859 1,907,750 4,454,851 1,907,750 

$ 65,014,797 $ 64,854,763 $ 93,710,089 $ 92,944,438 

The City's capital assets are recorded at historical or estimated historical costs in the 
governmental-wide financial statements. 
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Long-term debt. As of June 30 2009, the City of Wheeling had total bonds outstanding of 
$38,491,311 compared to $40,418,866 in the prior fiscal year. Of this amount, $6,475,000 related 
to governmental activities and $32,016,311 related to business activities. In addition to bonded 
debt, the City had a HUD loan outstanding as of June 30, 2009 with a balance of $1,750,000. 

City of Wbeeling, West Virginia 
Statement of Bond Indebtedness 
Jnne 30, 2009 and 2008 Table 8 

Balance Balance 
30-Jun-08 Additions Maturities 30-Juo-09 

General Obligation Bonds 

Series 2003 $ 2.325.000 $ $ 70.000 $ 2,255.000 

2.325.000 70.000 2.255.000 

Revenue Bonds 

TIF revenue bonds 2005A 3,760,000 80,000 3.680,000 
TIF revenue bonds 2008A 715,000 175.000 540,000 

Water and Sewer Series 1997 8,960,000 1.490,000 7,470,000 

Sewer Revenue Series 2005 13,588,866 11,425 613,980 12,986.311 
Water Revenue Series 2006 11,785,000 225.000 11,560,000 

38,093.866 726,425 2.583.980 36,236,311 

Other 
HUD Section 108 loan 1,850,000 100,000 1,750,000 

Capital Leases payable 657,325 106,940 195,223 569,042 
Center Market HV AC loan 67,207 9,727 57,480 

2,574,532 106.940 304,950 2.376.522 

State statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a government may issue to 2.5 percent 
of its total assessed valuation of real property. The current limitation for the City of Wheeling is 
approximately $23,400,000. This is significantly more than the City's current total outstanding 
general obligation bond debt. 

The City maintained an "AN' rating from Standard & Poor's and an "Aa3" rating from Moody's 
for its general obligation and revenue bonds debt for all of the fiscal year ending June 30, 2009. 
Additional information on the City's long-term debt can be found in Note 7 on pages 54-56 of 
this report. 
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V. Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget and Rates 

The City of Wheeling, like most cities throughout the region, has had to deal with increasing costs 
and shrinking revenues, Health care costs for employees, liability insurance, higher fuel costs, 
wages, workers compensation, etc. have led to a very tight budget situation. However, the City of 
Wheeling's Administration and City Council have worked closely together to insure budget stability 
while continuing to provide quality public services to the citizens of Wheeling. To help accomplish 
that goal, the City Council, for the seventh consecutive year, has maintained a $1 ,000,000 Municipal 
Financial Stabilization Fund. The City has been aggressive in collecting the appropriate amounts of 
B&O Taxes from applicable businesses. The City Council adjusted ambulance rates to better reflect 
the costs of providing the service and in line with current industry standards and continues to 
monitor all fee schedules to insure competitiveness. Also revenue to the General Fund has been 
enhanced by the retirement of all debt for the City's parking system, in which $20,000 a month is 
now contributed to the General Fund from the parking system. No additional parking debt has been 
incurred. The City has also been particularly attuned to reviewing its organization. That review has 
included departmental reorganization and the elimination of unnecessary positions. In Fiscal Year 
2009-10 the City successfully eliminated 13 full-time positions that had been vacant without 
reduction in City services. In fact, a smaller re-organization in the Fire Department enabled the City 
to eliminate 3 positions through attrition and add a 4th ambulance crew. 

Overall the City is attempting to ensure that every possible revenue source is maximized in 
accordance with City policy, ordinances or state code to ensure that all citizens and businesses are 
treated fairly. 

The City's elected and appointed officials considered many factors when setting the fiscal year 2010-
Il budget, tax rates, and fees that will be charged for the business-type activities. One of those 
factors is tbe economy. The unemployment rate for the City of Wheeling (Ohio County) at the end 
of January, 201 0, as released by the WV Bureau of Employment Programs, is 10.1 %. The rate is 
below the states' rate of 11.0% and the national rate of 10.6%. Several economic development 
projects have been completed or are under construction in and around the City of Wheeling and these 
contributed to the lower unemployment rate. These projects included 2 additional industrial 
companies in the Peninsula Industrial Park; the now completed $68 million expansion at the 
Wheeling Island Racetrack and Gaming Center, which created 400 new jobs; the opening of the 
Orrick Information Center, creating 200 new jobs; the construction of the Federal Courthouse 
expansion and many more small business expansions. In the last 4 years over 70 new businesses 
have opened in the City of Wheeling. In addition, in August, 2004 a Cabala's Outdoor Super Store 
opened along with a distribution center just outside the City limits in Ohio County. This project, as 
well as development around it, will create over 1,500 new jobs for the Wheeling area. An $8 million 
expansion was completed at the Wheeling Island Gaming Center in 2008. The passage of table 
gaming at the Wheeling Island facility has created 300 new jobs. The first phase of the Center 
Wheeling Redevelopment Project is completed, as a 166,000 square foot Lowe's Home 
Improvement Center opened in December, 2005. Additionally, the City was successful in creating a 
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Tax Increment Finance District involving the downtown, the Industrial Park, Center Wheeling and 
parts of South Wheeling and Wheeling Island that will provide funding for economic development 
projects within the district. In September, 2004, the City was the first in the State of West Virginia 
to receive approval from the State's Development Office for a Tax Increment Financing Project that 
includes the renovation of the Stone's Building in downtown Wheeling. Tax Increment Financing 
Bonds have been sold for this project with construction completed in December, 2006. The first 
tenant has now occupied the first floor of this building. In addition, the West Virginia Northern 
Community College received funding for their $8,000,000 College Square Project which was 
completed in August, 2006. In July of 2008 the City gained approval of its third Tax Increment 
Financing Project which includes acquisition and redevelopment of buildings in the 1100 block of 
Downtown Wheeling as well as the Capitol Theater. Acquisition of the 1100 block by the City, 
which includes 5 buildings in the heart of the downtown, occurred in 2008. The Capitol Theater has 
also been acquired by the Wheeling Convention and Visitor's Bureau and is now managed by the 
City's Greater Wheeling Sports and Entertainment Authority. The Theater's reopening in 
September, 2009 has been a huge success with several sold out shows already performed with 
several more in the foreseeable future. 

An ongoing challenge to this and future budgets are the unfunded liabilities in the Policemen's and 
Firemen's Pension and Relief Funds. Currently the Municipal Employees Retirement and Benefit 
Fund is over funded. As of February 28,2010 the Policemen's Pension was 33% funded and the 
Firemen's Pension was 26% funded. 

VI. Request for Information. 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Wheeling's finances. 
Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional 
financial information should be addressed to the City's Financial Director at the City of Wheeling, 
1500 Chapline Street, Room 109, Wheeling, WV 26003. 
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City of Wheeling 
Statement of Net Assets 

June 30, 2009 

Primary Government 

Governmental 
Activities 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,090,246 
Investments 
Receivables (net of allowance) 

Accounts receivable 1,057,722 
Accrued interest 
Taxes receivables 2,859,136 
Loans receivable 3,476,771 
Intergovernmental 264,808 
Other fees and proceeds 291,397 

Internal balances 54,849 
Inventories 
Deposit and prepaids 53,026 
Deferred charges (net of accumulated 

amortization) 365,953 
Other assets 
Restricted assets: 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted governmental 791,325 
Sinking fund 
Depreciation fund 
Construction fund 
Maintenance fund 
Renewal and replacement fund 

Restricted taxes receivable 30,865 
Restricted accrued interest receivable 181 

Capital Assets (Net of Accumulated 
depreciation) : 
Land and land improvements 
Infrastructure 
Parking structures and equipment 
Utility plant, in service 
Buildings and improvements 
Vehicles and equipment 
Construction in progress 

Total assets 

4,781,537 
13,578,159 

5,196,937 
4,978,627 

159,992 
$ 44,031,531 $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
(23) 

Business-type 
Activities 

418,792 

1,908,243 
458 

(54,849) 
206,101 

21,853 

566,646 

3,155,740 
1,108,637 
1,131,714 

335,383 
743,375 

1,515,414 

1,127,972 
58,076,551 

4,294,859 
74,556,889 

Comeonent Unit 
Greater Wheeling 

Sports and Entertainment 
Total Authority 

6,509,038 1,052,787 
22,000 

2,965,965 23,951 
458 

2,859,136 
3,476,771 

264,808 
291,397 

206,101 17,565 
74,879 19,438 

932,599 
68,998 

791,325 
3,155,740 
1,108,637 
1,131,714 

335,383 
743,375 
30,865 

181 

6,296,951 
13,578,159 

1,127,972 
58,076,551 

5,196,937 1,095,170 
4,978,627 89,885 
4,454,851 

$ 118,588,420 $ 2,389,794 



LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable 
Accrued payroll 
Due to fiduciary funds 
Current maturity of capital leases payable 

City of Wheeling 
Statement of Net Assets 

June 30, 2009 

Governmental 
Activities 

$ 633,611 
591,479 
100,579 
150,129 

Current maturity of bonds payable (net of unamortized debt discount) 327,991 
Current maturity of note payable 135,154 

Accrued interest payable 64,107 
Accrued vacation and other accrued liabilities 916,513 

Deferred revenue 
Unearned revenues 2,805,718 

Taxes 
Reserve for painting and sealing 
Customer/advanced deposits 
Non-current maturity of capital leases payable 418,913 
Non-current maturity of note payable 1,672,327 
Non-current maturity of bonds payable (net of unamortized debt discount) 6,118,622 

Total liabilities 

NET ASSETS 
Invested in capital assets 

(Net of related debt) 
Restricted for: 

Capital projects 
Debt service 
Public Safety 
Community development 
Maintenance and replacement 

Unrestricted 
Total net assets 

13,935,143 

25,253,269 

668,365 
199,771 
949,860 

3,025,123 
$ 30,096,388 $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
(24) 

Primary Government 

Business-type 
Activities 

612,604 
135,659 

2,293,040 

100,440 
249,201 

12,257 
44,745 

29,292,244 
32,740,190 

33,142,482 

2,240,352 
3,155,740 

1,078,758 
2,199,367 

41,816,699 

$ 

$ 

Total 

1,246,215 
727,138 
100,579 
150,129 

2,621,031 
135,154 
164,547 

1,165,714 

2,805,718 

12,257 
44,745 

418,913 
1,672,327 

35,410,866 
46,675,333 

58,395,751 

2,240,352 
3,824,105 

199,771 
949,860 

1,078,758 
5,224,490 

71,913,087 

$ 

$ 

Component Unit 
Greater Wheeling 

Sports and Entertainment 
Authority 

46,045 
41,572 

53,026 

356,450 

497,093 

1,185,055 

707,646 
1,892,701 



City of Wheeling 
Statement of Activities 

June 30, 2009 
Net (Expense) Revenue and 

Changes in Net Assets 
Program Revenues Primary Government Component Unit 

Operating Capital Greater Wheeling 
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type Sports and Entertainment 

Functions/Programs Ex[!enses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total Authority 
Primary government: 

Governmental activities: 
General government $ 3,971,271 $ 1,266,554 $ 766,765 $ $ (1,937,952) $ $ (1,937.952) 

Public safety 15,246,493 3,400,376 1,134,214 293,596 (10,418,307) (10,418,307) 
Streets and transportatiou 5,962,092 126,967 (5,835,125) (5,835,125) 
Health and sanitation 1,848,634 1,781,070 293,398 225,834 225,834 
Culture and recreation 2,314,609 109,023 94,922 (2,110,664) (2,110,664) 

Social services 71,967 67,062 (4,905) (4,905) 
Debt Service: 

Interest Expense 448,269 (448,269) (448,269) 
Total governmental activities 29,863,335 6,557,023 2,483,328 293,596 (20,529,388) (20,529,388) 

Business-type activities: 
Water 5,832,977 5,984,486 7,100 158,609 158,609 
Sewer 5,310,771 5,089,156 (221,615) (221,615) 
Parking 675,758 782,538 106,780 106,780 
Total business-type activities 11,819,506 11,856,180 7,100 43,774 43,774 

Total primary government 41,682,841 18,413,203 2,483,328 293,596 (20,529,388) 43,774 (20,485,614) 

Component Units: 
Greater Wheeling Sports and 

Entertainment Authority 1,998,784 1,610,963 239,000 (148,821) 
$ 1,998,784 $ 1,610,963 $ 239,000 $ $ $ $ $ (148,821) 

Geueral Revenues: 
Property taxes $ 4,549,505 $ $ 4,549,505 $ 
TIF property tax 694,718 694,718 
Business and occupation taxes 9,958,173 9,958,173 
Utility taxes 1,316,861 1,316,861 
Hotellmotel tax 1,131,071 1,131,071 
Liquor/wine sales tax 309,277 309,277 
Miscellaneous taxes 330,691 330,691 
Video lottery proceeds 2,198,603 2,198,603 
Miscellaneous revenues 316,182 316,182 4,657 
Interest 67,947 100,639 168,586 6,180 
Gain (loss) on sale of assets 20,875 20,875 
Transfers 353,884 (353,884) 

Total general revenues and transfers 21,247,787 (253,245) 20,994,542 10,837 
Changes in net assets 718,399 (209,471 ) 508,928 (137,984) 

Net assets- beginning June 30, 2008 as originally stated 29,189,792 42,406,992 71,596,784 2,030,685 

Prior period adjustments 188,197 (380,822) (192,625) 

Net assets- beginning June 30, 2008 as restated 29,377,989 42,026,170 71,404,159 2,030,685 

Net assets- ending, June 30, 2009 $ 30,096,388 $ 41,816,699 S 71 ,913,087 $ 1,892,701 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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City of Wheeling 
Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2009 

Nonmajor Total 
Coal Severance Governmental Governmental 

General Fund Fund Home Fund Funds Funds 
ASSETS: 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,114,016 $ 78,417 $ 300 $ 3,897,513 $ 6,090,246 
Receivables (net allowance for uncollectables): 

Taxes 2,859,136 2,859,136 
Charges for services 1,057,722 1,057,722 
Loans receivable 2,285,520 1,191,251 3,476,771 
Intergovernmental 115,651 5,586 143,571 264,808 
Other fees and proceeds 291,397 291,397 

Due from other funds 66,767 71,205 137,972 
Prepaid expenses 53,026 53,026 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 791,325 791,325 
Restricted taxes receivable (net of allowance) 30,865 30,865 
Restricted accrued interest receivable 181 181 

Total assets 6,557,715 78,417 2,291,406 6,125,911 15,053,449 

LIABILITIES: 
Accounts payable 416,670 4,054 165,259 585,983 
Notes payable 125,000 125,000 
Accrued payroll 591,479 591,479 
Accrued vacation 131,334 131,334 
Accrued interest 37,864 37,864 
Due to other funds 65,578 1,532 16,014 83,124 
Due to fiduciary funds 100,579 100,579 
Deferred revenues: 

Unearned revenue 27,060 2,285,820 492,838 2,805,718 
Taxes 254,066 22,772 276,838 

Total liabilities 1,586,766 2,291,406 4,737,919 

FUND EQUITY: 
Fund Balance 

Unreserved reported in: 
General Fund 4,691,310 4,691,310 
Special revenue funds 78,417 3,448,937 3,527,354 
Reserved for: 
Community development 949,860 949,860 
Public Safety 199,771 199,771 
Encumbrances 279,639 279,639 
Debt service 667,596 667,596 

Total fund balances 4,970,949 78,417 5,266,164 10,315,530 

Total liabilities and fund equity $ 6,557,715 $ 78,417 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
(26) 



CITY OF WHEELING 
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

Total fund balance-Total governmental funds 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets 
are different because: 

Capital assets of $73,488,136, net of accumulated depreciation of 
$44,792,884 are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported 
in funds. 

Otber long tenn assets (receivables) are not available to pay current­
period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. These 
include deferred TIF and property taxes, wine/liquor taxes, and B & 0 taxes 
of$173,961, $77,513, and $25,364 respectively. 

Long tenn liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and 
are not reported in the funds. These include bonds payable of $6,446,613 
(net of unamortized debt discount of $28,387), non-current portion of 
notes payable of$I,682,480, capital leases payable of $569,042, 
non-current portion accrued interest of $26,243, non-current portion of 
accrued vacation of$785,179, and property tax pass-throughs of 
$47,628. 

Bond issuance costs are expended in the funds, while being capitalized 
and amortized over the life ofthe bonds on the government-wide 
Statement of Net Assets. Deferred charges are $426,276 net of 
accumulated amortization of $60,323. 

Net assets of governmental activities 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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10,315,530 

28,695,252 

276,838 

(9,557,185) 
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City of Wheeling 
Statement of Revenues: Ex(!enditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2009 

Coal Nonmajor Total 
Severance Governmental Governmental 

General Fund Fund Home Fund Funds Funds 
REVENUES 
Taxes 

General property $ 4,335,333 $ $ $ 204,237 $ 4,539,570 
TIF property 695,235 695,235 
Business and occupation 10,047,191 10,047,191 
Utilities 1.316,861 1,316,861 
Hotel/motel 1,13 1,071 1,131,071 
Wine/liquor 304,161 304,161 
Miscellaneous 175,992 154,699 330,691 

Licenses and permits 807,288 807,288 
Fines and forfeits 391,810 51,981 443,791 
Intergovernmental 

Federal 376.760 69,915 1,735,288 2,181,963 
State 10,000 10,000 
Local 509,939 75,022 584,961 

Charges for services 5,305,944 5,305,944 
Video lottery and table gaming 2,198,603 2,198,603 
Interest 14,951 741 52,255 67,947 
Miscellaneous revenue 158,008 158.174 316,182 

Total revenues 27,073,912 155,440 69,915 2,982,192 30,281,459 

EXPENDITURES 
Current: 

General government 2,949.742 36,601 69,915 1,555,999 4,612,257 
Public Safety 14,149,070 3,250 1,012,653 15,164,973 
Streets and transportation 6,002,590 17,200 225,585 6,245,375 
Health and sanitation 1,497,248 31,458 442,152 1,970,858 
Culture and recreation 1,688,921 65,541 147,673 1,902,135 
Social Services 3,101 67,938 71,039 

Debt Service: 
Principal retirement 204,950 450,000 654,950 
Interest 34.736 410,095 444,831 
Costs of issuance 48.250 48,250 

Total Expenditures 26,530,358 154,050 69,915 4,360,345 31,114,668 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 543,554 1,390 (1,378,153) (833,209) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Proceeds from capital lease 106,940 106,940 
Proceeds from bonds 715,000 715,000 
Proceeds from sale of assets 20,875 20,875 
Transfers in 1,240,000 2,247,483 3,487,483 
Transfers out (1,245,335) (1,888,264) (3,133,599) 

Total other financing sources and uses 122,480 1,074,219 1,196,699 

Net change in fund balances 666,034 1,390 (303,934) 363,490 

Fund balances - beginning as originally stated 4,304,915 77,027 5,381,901 9,763,843 

Prior period adjustment 188,197 188,197 

Fund balances - beginning as restated 4,304,915 77,027 5,570,098 9,952,040 

Fund balances - ending $ 4,970,949 $ 78,417 $ $ 5,266,164 $ 10,315,530 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

Net changes in fund balances-total governmental funds 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities 
are different because: 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, 
in the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over 
their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This 
is the amount by which capital outlays of $2,261 ,936 exceeded 
depreciation expense of $1 ,656,358 in the current period. 

The issuance oflong term debt (e.g. bonds, leases) provide current financial 
resources to governmental funds, while repayment of the principal of long-term 
debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither 
transaction, however, has any effect on net assets. This is the amount by which 
bond and capital lease proceeds of $715,000 and $106,940, respectively, 
exceeded bond, capital lease, and note principal payments of325,000, 
$195,223, and $134,727, respectively. 

Governmental funds report the effects of premiums, discounts, and costs of 
issuance when debt is first issued, whereas, these amounts are deferred and 
amortized in the Statement of Activities. Costs of issuance on bonds issued 
during the year totaled $48,250 net of the current year expense for existing 
discount and costs of issuance are $2,043 and $23,579, respectively. 

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the 
use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as 
expenditures in governmental funds. This is the amount by which net increases 
in accrued vacation and accrued interest of$33,098 and $1,395, respectively, 
exceeded the decreases in tax pass-throughs payable (included in accounts 
payable) of $2,671. 

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current 
financial resources are not reported as revenue in the funds. This is the 
amount by which the net decreases in TlF property tax and B & 0 tax of 
$516 and 89,018, respectively, exceeded decreases in general property 
tax and wine and liquor sales tax of$9,934 and $5,116, respectively. 

Changes in net assets of governmental activities 

$ 

$ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Ci!y of Wheeling 
Statement of Net Assets 

Prol!rietan: Funds 
June 30, 2009 

Enterprise Funds 
Sewer Fund Water Fund Parking Total 

ASSETS: 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 132,416 $ 264,156 $ 22,220 $ 418,792 
Accounts receivables (net of allowance for uncollectables): 933,753 851,584 122,906 1,908,243 
Accrued interest 18 440 458 
Due from other funds 3,414 127,637 131,051 
Inventory of supplies, at cost 206,101 206,101 
Prepaid expenses 21,854 21,854 
Restricted assets: 

Sinking fund 941,343 2,214,397 3,155,740 
Depreciation fund 419,560 689,077 1,108,637 
Construction fund 5,535 1,126,179 1,131,714 
Maintenance fund 335,383 335,383 
Renewal and replacement fund 743,375 743,375 
Total current assets 2,436,039 5,814,954 910,355 9,161,348 

Non-current assets: 
Capital assets: 

Land 1,515,414 1,515,414 
Structures, improvements, parking lots, and equipment 5,882,902 5,882,902 

Less: Allowance for depreciation (4,754,930) (4,754,930) 
Utility Plant: 

In service 68,885,527 47,091,608 115,977,135 
Less: Allowance for depreciation (34,881,517) (23,019,067) (57,900,584) 

Construction work in process 140,106 4,154,753 4,294,859 
Deferred charges (net of accumulated amortization) 96,615 470,031 566,646 
Total non-current assets 34,240,731 28,697,325 2,643,386 65,581,442 

Total assets 36,676,770 34,512,279 3,553,741 74,742,790 

LIABILITIES: 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable 340,095 214,569 57,940 612,604 
Due to other funds 158,632 7,269 20,000 185,901 
Accrued payroll 56,049 72,475 7,135 135,659 
Accrued vacation and payroll withholdings 118,263 130,938 249,201 
Accrued interest payable 35,475 64,965 100,440 
Deferred revenue 
Current maturity of revenue bonds payable (net of unamortized debt discount) 1,214,941 1,078,099 2,293,040 

Total current liabilities 1,923,455 1,568,315 85,075 3,576,845 
Non-current liabilities: 

Long-term revenue bonds payable (net of unamortized debt discount) 14,571,570 14,720,674 29,292,244 
Reserve for painting and sealant 12,257 12,257 
Deposits 44,095 650 44,745 

Total nOil-current liabilities 14,615,665 14,721,324 12,257 29,349,246 
Total liabilities 16,539,120 16,289,639 97,332 32,926,091 

NET ASSETS: 
Invested in capital assets, (net of related debt) 18,239,104 12,259,992 2,643,386 33,142,482 
Restricted for: 
Capital projects 425,095 1,815,257 2,240,352 
Debt services 941,343 2,214,397 3,155,740 
Maintenance and replacement 335,383 743,375 1,078,758 
Unrestricted 532,108 1,597,611 69,648 2,199,367 

Total net assets $ 20,137,650 $ 18,222,640 $ 3,456,409 $ 41,816,699 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Cil! of Wheeling 
Statement of Revennes, Exuenses and Changes in Fund Net Asset: 

Prourietan: Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2009 

Enter(!rise Funds 
ParKIng 

Sewer Fuud Water Fund Fund Total 
OPERATING REVENUES: 
Charges for service~ $ 3,972,029 $ 4,292,807 $ $ 8,264,836 
Sales to other systems 689,742 1,020,530 1,710,272 
Fire protection service~ 230,408 230,408 
Billing and collection service: 248,537 248,537 
Lease revenue 547,347 547,347 
Transient revenut; 209,156 209,156 
Special event reventi( 8,623 8,623 
Miscellaneous 427,385 192,204 17,412 637,001 

Total operating revenue, 5,089,156 5,984,486 782,538 11,856,180 

OPERATING EXPENSES: 
Pumping systerr 31,264 872,329 903,593 
Collection systerr 588,763 588,763 
Treatment and disposal 1,521,704 1,521,704 
Painting and sealanl 119,404 119,404 
Maintenance 17,231 17,231 
Other operating expense, 395,800 395,800 
Purification system 577,829 577,829 
Distribution systerr 998,901 998,901 
Commercial 478,232 478,232 
General and administrativ( 1,105,123 818,595 396,000 2,319,718 
Depreciation 1,155,627 1,166,272 143,123 2,465,022 

Total operating expense, 4,798,281 4,912,158 675,758 10,386,197 

Operating income (loss: 290,875 1,072,328 106,780 1,469,983 

NON-OPERATING REVENUES: 
Interest earned - Sinking Fun( 30,233 30,233 
Interest earned - Other investment: 18,853 43,987 7,566 70,406 
Intergovernmental grant: 
Other 

Total other incom( 18,853 74,220 7,566 100,639 

NON-OPERATING EXPENSES: 
Interest on long term deb (512,490) (915,241) (1,427,731) 
Other (5,578) (5,578) 

Total other deduction, (512,490) (920,819) (1,433,309) 

Income (loss) before contributions and transfer (202,762) 225,729 114,346 137,313 

Capital contributiom 7,100 7,100 
Transfers oul (29,634) (36,459) (287,791) (353,884) 

Change in net asset, (232,396) 196,370 (173,445) (209,471) 

Total net assets - beginning as previously state, 20,750,868 18,026,270 3,629,854 42,406,992 

Prior period adjustmerr (380,822) (380,822) 

Total net assets - beginning as restatec 20,370,046 18,026,170 3,629,854 42,026,170 

Total net assets - endin~ $ 20,137,650 $ 18,222,640 $ 3,456,409 $41,816,699 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statement 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

WPCD Water Parking 
Fund Fund Fund Totals 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities: 
Cash received from customers $ 4,523,180 $ 5,511,269 $ 757,207 $ lO,791,656 
Cash received from miscellaneous 427,385 192,204 619,588 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (3,478,829) (3,527,371) (511,847) (7,518,048) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,471,736 2,176, lO2 245,360 3,893,197 

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities 
Payments from (to) other funds 123,182 (29,190) (287,791) (193,799) 

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 123,182 (29,190) (287,791) (193,799) 

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities: 
Payments on capital leases 
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (158,372) (2,734,267) (107,145) (2,999,784) 
Capital grants received 
Interest paid on long-term debt and other (460,119) (831,757) (1,291,876) 
Proceeds derived from bond issuance 372,397 372,397 
Retirement of/ong-term debt (1,585,852) (1,104,100) (2,689,952) 

Net cash used for capital and related financing activities (1,831,946) (4,670,123) (107,145) (6,609,215) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities: 
Interest income from restricted fund investments and other 20,203 74,220 7,783 102,205 

Net cash provided by investing activities 20,203 74,220 7,783 lO2,205 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and restricted cash (216,826) (2,448,989) (141,793) (2,807,608) 
Cash and restricted cash, July I, 2008 1,715,680 7,078,184 907,388 9,701,252 

Cash and restricted cash, June 30, 2009 1,498,854 4,629,192 765,595 6,893,641 

Reconciliation of Operating Income (loss) to Net 
Cash Provided by Operating Activities: 
Net operating income (loss) 290,875 1,072,328 lO6,780 1,469,983 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash 

provided by operating activities 
Depreciation 1,155,627 1,166,272 143,123 2,465,022 

Changes in Assets and Liabilities -
(Increase) decrease in receivables (138,591) (274,913) (37,637) (451,141) 
(Increase) decrease in inventory (19,098) (19,098) 
(Increase) decrease in container deposits and other assets 39,949 39,949 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 172,063 195,330 22,163 389,557 
Increase (decrease) in accrued and other liabilities (8,238) (3,767) lO,93 I (1,074) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,471,736 2,176,102 245,360 3,893,198 

Noncash Investing, Capital, and Financing Activities: 
Contributions of capital assets from others $ $ 7,100 $ $ 7.100 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Receivables: 

Contributions 
Accrued interest and dividends 
Due from other funds 

City of Wheeling 
Statement of Fiduciarv Net Assets 

Fiduciary Funds 
June 30, 2009 

Total Pension 
Trust Funds 

$ 23,061 

Cash surrender life insurance policies 

2,787 
178,484 
100,579 
256,576 

Investments: 
Money markets 
U.S. Government obligations 
U.S. Government agency obligations 
Corporate obligations 
Mutual Funds 
Common stock 
Preferred stock 
Common trust funds 

Total investments 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable 
Due to other entity 
Accrued pension benefit 
Due to other funds 

To tal liabilities 

NET ASSETS 
Net assets held in trust 

1,732,988 
5,459,365 
6,716,339 
7,095,254 
1,355,491 

22,312,770 
71,668 
2,928 

44,746,802 

45,308,290 

63,752 

260,617 

324,369 

$ 44,983,920 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Total Agency 
Funds 

$ 395 

395 

394 
395 



City of Wheeling 
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets 

Fiduciary Funds 

ADDITIONS 
Contributions: 

Employer 
Plan members 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2009 

Insurance premium tax allocation 
Total contributions 

Investment earnings: 
Investment income (loss) 
Less: Investment expense 

Net investment income 
Other additions: 

Miscellaneous 
Total other additions 

Total additions 

DEDUCTIONS 
Benefits payments 
Other operating expenses 

Total deductions 

Change in net assets 

Net assets held in trust for pension benefits: 

Net assets - beginning, as originally stated 

Prior period adjustment 

Net assets - beginning, as restated 

Net assets - ending 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 
$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Total Pension 
Trust Funds 

3,590,687 
918,671 

1,754,973 
6,264,332 

(5,051,752) 
(193,495) 

(5,245,247) 

50,653 
50,653 

1,069,737 

5,819,326 
27,273 

5,846,599 

(4,776,862) 

47,171,303 

2,589,479 

49,760,782 

44,983,920 

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese financial statements. 
(34) 



CITY OF WHEELING 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2009 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies of the City of Wheeling conform to generally accepted 
accounting principles as applicable to governmental units. The following is a summary of 
signiticant accounting policies: 

A. Reporting entity 
The City of Wheeling, West Virginia is a Class II municipality with a population of 

approximately 29,600 located in Ohio County, West Virginia. 

The City of Wheeling operates under the Manager-Mayor Plan as set forth as Plan 
V in the West Virginia State Code Section 8-3-2. Council consists of six members, elected 
from respective geographic districts or wards. The Mayor is elected at large by the qualified 
voters of the City and serves as the presiding officer of the Council. City elections for Mayor 
and members of Council are held every four years with the most recent election being May 
2008. 

The services provided by the City and accounted for within these financial 
statements include general government, public safety, streets and transportation, health and 
sanitation, cultural and recreational programs, social services and other governmental services. 

The accompanying financial statements present the government and its component 
unit as required by the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. [n 
determining whether to include a governmental department, agency, commission or 
organization as a component unit, the government must evaluate each entity as to whether they 
are legally separate and financially accountable based on the criteria set forth by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Legal separateness is evaluated on the 
basis of (I) its corporate name, (2) the right to sue and be sued and (3) the right to buy, sell or 
lease and mortgage property. Financial accountability is based on (l) the appointment of the 
governing authority and (2) the ability to impose will or (3) the providing of specific financial 
benefit or imposition of specific financial burden. Another factor to consider in this evaluation 
is whether an entity is fiscally dependent upon the City. 

Discretely Presented Component Unit 
The Greater Wheeling Sports and Entertainment Authority is responsible for the 

supervision, operation, and control of Wesbanco Arena (the Authority). Board members are 
appointed by the Mayor pending City Council ratification. The City issued bonds in previous 
years to provide capital improvements for the Authority. The Authority is presented as a 
proprietary fund type. The Authority receives a portion of the hotel/motel tax collected by the 
City. This is reflected in the operating grants and contributions line in the Statement of 
Activities. 

The Annual Audit and Financial Report for the Authority can be obtained upon 
request. Questions concerning the Report should be addressed to the Authority's Executive 
Director, 2_14'11 Street, Wheeling, West Virginia, 26003. 

(35) 



CITY OF WHEELING 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2009 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
A. Reporting Entity (Continued) 

There are several boards and commissions created by the City Code which act in an 
administrative capacity only and have no operating budget. Accordiugly, these boards, 
authorities and commissions are not included in the accompanying financial statements. City 
Council and/or the City Manager are responsible for appointing members of these boards and 
commissions. The City's accountability for these boards or commissions does not extend 
beyond making appointments. 

B. Government-wide and governmental fund financial statements 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net assets and the 
statement of activities) report information on all the nonfiduciary activities of the primary 
government and its component units. For the most part, the effect of internal activity has been 
removed from these statements. Government activities, which normally are supported by taxes 
and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which 
rely, to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. Likewise, the primary government 
is reported separately from the legally separate component unit for which the primary 
government is financially accountable. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of 
a given function are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to 
customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or 
privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are 
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or 
segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported 
as general revenues. 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary 
funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide 
financial statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise 
funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. Nonmajor 
governmental funds are combined into a single column. 

C. Measurement Focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic 
resource measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when 
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of 
related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year in which they are 
levied and collectible. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all 
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. As a general rule the effect of 
interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements. 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2009 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
C. Measurement Focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation (cont.) 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current tinancial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are 
recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be 
available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay 
liabilities of the current period. 

For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are 
collected within 60 days after the end of the current fiscal year. Expenditures generally are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service 
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and pending litigation 
are recorded only when payment is due. 

Property taxes, business and occupation taxes, utility excise taxes, hotel/motel 
taxes, wine/liquor sales taxes, some sources of miscellaneous tax and revenue, and interest 
associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so 
have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. All other revenue items are 
considered to be measurable and available only when the government receives cash. 

Entitlements and shared revenues are recorded at the time of receipt or earlier if the 
susceptible to accrual criteria are met. Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue 
when the qualifYing expenditures have been incurred and all other grant requirements have 
been met. 

(a) Fund Accounting 

The accounts of the city are organized on the basis of funds or groups of accounts, 
each of which is considered a separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are 
accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts which comprise its assets, 
liabilities, fund equity, revenues and expenditures, or expenses, as appropriate. Government 
resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for 
which they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled. The 
various funds are grouped in the financial statements in this report into generic fund types 
under the following broad fund categories: 

Governmental Funds: 
General Fund - The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the 

municipality. It is used to account for all financial resources except those required to be 
accounted for in another fund. The City reports the General Fund as a major fund as required. 

Special Revenue Funds - Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the 
proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than special assessments, or major capital projects) 
that are legally restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. 

(37) 



CITY OF WHEELING 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2009 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
C. Measurement Focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation (cont.) 

The City reports the following major special revenue funds: 

Coal Severance Fund - This special revenue fund accounts for revenues and 
expenditures from a severance tax placed on coal that is distributed to West Virginia 
municipalities. 

Home Fund - This special revenue fund accounts for federal grants received from 
the U.S. Housing and Urban Development for the purpose of providing loans to 
underprivileged citizens for the purpose of purchasing homes. 

Debt Service Funds - Debt Service Funds are used to account for the accumulation 
of resources for, and the payment ot: long-term debt principal, interest, and related costs. The 
City's Debt Service Fund is included in the Nonmajor Governmental Column of the Fund 
Financial Statements. 

Proprietary Funds: 
Enterprise Funds - Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations (a) that are 

financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises - where the intent of 
the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or 
services to the general public on a continuing basis be tinanced or recovered primarily through 
user charges; or (b) where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of 
revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, 
public policy, management control, accountability. or other purposes. 

The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 

Sewer Fund - This tund accounts for the revenues and expenses generated by 
sewage services provided to the residents of the City as well as other entities. 

Water Fund - This fund accounts for the revenues and expenses generated by water 
services provided to the residents of the City as well as other entities. 

Parking Fund - This fund accounts for the revenues and expenses generated by the 
operation of parking buildings and parking lots owned by the City. 

Fiduciary Funds: 
Pension Trust Funds- The pension trust funds account for the actlvllles of the 

Employees and Public Safety Employees (Fire and Police) Retirement System as well as the 
Water Pollution Control Department Pension Plan, which accumulate resources for pension 
benetit payments to qualitied employees. These funds are accounted for in essentially the same 
manner as the proprietary funds. using the accrual basis of accounting. See Note 6. 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2009 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
C. Measurement Focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation (cont.) 

Agency Funds- The Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) 
and do not present results of operations or have a measurement focus. Agency funds are 
accounted for using the cash basis of accounting. These funds are used to account for assets 
that the City holds for others in an agency capacity. 

The City follows GASB guidance as applicable to proprietary funds and F ASB 
Statements and Interpretations, Accounting Principles Board Opinions and Accounting 
Research Bulletins issued on or before November 30, 1989, that do not conflict with GASB 
Pronouncements in both the government-wide and proprietary fUnd financial statements. 

Amounts reported as program revenues include I) charges to customers or 
applicants for goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, 
and 3) capital grants and contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated 
resources are reported as general revenues rather than program revenues. Likewise, general 
revenues include all taxes. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating 
items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection 
with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenue of the 
Sewer, Water, Parking Funds and the Greater Wheeling Sports and Entertainment Authority 
(Component Unit) are charges to customers for services. Operating expenses for the enterprise 
funds include the cost of services, administrative expenses, and depreciation of capital assets. 
All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues 
and expenses. 

(b) Capital Assets and Long-Term Liabilities 
Purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical 

cost. Donated fixed assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation. 
Capital assets (including infrastructure) are depreciated using the straight-line method over 
their estimated useful lives less any salvage value. The City utilizes GASB guidance for Phase 
II governments related to assigning estimated useful lives which range from 3 to 50 years. 
During fiscal year 2007, the City implemented the transition provision of GASB #34 related to 
the retroactive reporting of infrastructure assets. Infrastructure recorded by the City includes 
roads/streets, alleys, bridges, trails, and trail bridges. 

In the Statement of Net Assets, long term liabilities consist of general obligation 
and revenue bonds, a note payable, capital leases, and most of the balance of the compensated 
absences. All amounts are split out between current and non-current liabilities. Non-current 
liabilities represent those amounts due beyond one year. Bonds payable are reflected net of the 
applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are reported as deferred charges 
and amortized on a straight line basis over the term of the debt. 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2009 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
C. Measurement Focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation (cont.) 

(c) Basis of Accounting 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures or expenses are 

recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements. Basis of accounting relates 
to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement forms applied. 

As prescribed by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, all governmental funds in the accompanying financial statements are accounted for 
using the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when they become 
measurable and available as net current assets. Expenditures are generally recognized when 
the related Fund liability is incurred. The government-wide financial statements as mentioned 
earlier are presented using the accrual basis of accounting. All proprietary funds are accounted 
for using the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses 
when incurred. 

(d) Encumbrances 
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other 

commitments for the expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the 
applicable appropriation, is employed as an extension of the formal budgetary process in the 
General and Coal Severance Funds. Encumbrances outstanding at year end are reported as 
reservations of fund balances since they do not constitute expenditures or liabilities. 

( e) Investments 
The securities included in investments are stated at market value as determined by 

primarily by quoted market prices and matrix pricing of similar debt securities. The 
investment policy for the City including the Pension funds follows the guidelines established 
under §8-22-22a of the West Virginia Code. State statutes authorize the City to invest in the 
Municipal Bond Commission, obligations of the United States or any agency thereof, 
obligations of the state, and high graded debt of private corporations. In addition to the above, 
the Pension funds can also in invest in common stock and mutual funds. All other deposits 
and investments of the City follow the guidelines established under the West Virginia Code 
Article 12-1 for state depositories. The City does not have a policy for concentration of credit, 
interest, and credit risk in addition to the state's governing statutes. 

(t) Utility Plant and Depreciation 
Within the Water Fund, improvements to Utility Plant and Equipment are 

capitalized and upon being placed into service are depreciated using the composite method 
over the estimated useful life as established in guidelines for water utilities published by the 
Public Service Commission of West Virginia. Within the Sewer Fund, improvements to 
Utility Plant and Equipment are capitalized and upon being placed into service are depreciated 
using the straight line method over the estimated useful life as established in guidelines for 
sewer utilities published by the Public Service Commission of West Virginia. The depreciable 
lives of various items range from 6 to 50 years. The books and records reflect estimated or 
appraisal values for certain assets of the water and sewer funds. Likewise, the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance reflects charges for depreciation of 
these assets. 
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1. Summary of Siguificant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(g) Parking Fund - Fixed Assets and Depreciation 
(a) Land - The cost of the land on which the Center Wheeling Parking Garage, the 

10th Street Parking Garage and the Civic Center Lot are situated is included as "Land." The 
land on which the Main Street lots are situated is leased from the West Virginia Department of 
Transportation. 

(b) Structures and Depreciation - "Structures, improvements, parking lots and 
equipment" includes the original construction cost of all the parking facilities operated by the 
Wheeling Municipal Parking Fund. The structures are being depreciated over their estimated 
useful life of 40 years on the straight-line method. Parking lots and equipment are being 
depreciated over estimated useful lives of three to 20 years on the straight-line method. 

(h) Inventories 
All funds, except the Water Fund, consider inventories as expenditures at the time 

of purchase; therefore, they do not appear on the City'S tinancial statements, except inventories 
reflected in the Water Fund. Inventory for the Water Fund is stated at cost. 

(i) Restricted Assets 
Certain proceeds of the proprietary funds revenue bonds, as well as certain 

resources set aside for their bond repayment, maintenance and construction, are classified as 
restricted assets on the balance sheet because they are maintained in separate bank accounts 
and their use is limited by applicable bond covenants and/or public service commission 
requirements. 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents and tax increment property taxes and accrued 
interest receivable in the Other Nonmajor Govermnental Funds column are classified as 
restricted assets on the balance sheet because they are maintained in separate trust accounts and 
their use is limited to debt service on the TIF revenue and General Obligation Bonds. Tax 
increment revenues are pledged as collateral to the bondholders of the TIF revenue bonds. 
Excess TIF amounts placed into a specific trust account are restricted to use for economic 
development within the City's TIF District. 

(j) Fund Balance- Reservations 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report reservations of fund 

balance for amounts that are not available for appropriation or are legally restricted by outside 
parties for use for a specitic purpose. Reservations of the fund balance in the Balance Sheet­
Governmental Funds are for amounts related to debt service and community development in 
Nonmajor Govermnental Funds. No designations of fund balance have been reflected in the 
fund balance sheet. Designations represent tentative management plans that are subject to 
change. 

(k) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City of Wheeling considers all 

short-term debt securities purchased with maturity of three months or less to be cash 
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents in govermnental funds includes cash on hand, deposits 
with financial institutions or tiscal agents, and money market deposits with trust departments. 
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t. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(I) Estimates 
The presentation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 

accounting principles require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. 

2. Transfers 

Transfers are made from General Fund to the Consolidated Investment Fund 
(included in nonmajor governmental funds) for workers compensation funding, reimbursement 
of capital improvements, and other capital projects. 

The TIF Flmd transfers tax increment revenues to the Debt Service Fund (included 
in nonmajor governmental funds) to make necessary debt service payments related to the TIF 
revenue bonds. 

The Water and Sewer Funds transfer amounts for workers compensation funding. 
The Parking Fund transfers $20,000 to the General Fund per month from excess 

revenues. 

The Municipal Financial Stabilization Fund transfers needed amounts to the 
General Fund each October to cover cash flow deficiencies. Each March the General Fund 
transfers amounts back to the Municipal Financial Stabilization Fund (included in nonmajor 
governmental funds). 

Governmental Activities 
Governmental Activities: Nonmajor Transferred 
Major Governmental Funds General Funds Out 
General Fund $ $ 1,245,335 $ 1,245,335 
Nonmajor Funds 1,000,000 888,264 1,888,264 

Business-type Activities: 
Sewer 29,634 29,634 
Water 36,459 36,459 
Parking 240,000 47,791 287,791 

Transferred in $ 1,240,000 $ 2,247,483 $ 3,487,483 
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3. Property Taxes 

CITY OF WHEELING 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2009 

Real property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on all real property on which 
taxes are assessed on July first. There is no lien denominated as such on personal property. 
However, statutes provide that the sheriff of a county may distrain for delinquent taxes any 
goods and chattels belonging to a person assessed. All current taxes assessed on real and 
personal property may be paid in two installments; the first installment is payable on 
September first of the year for which the assessment is made and becomes delinquent on 
October first, and the second installment is payable on the first day of the following March and 
becomes delinquent on April first. Taxes paid on or before the date when they are payable, 
including both first and second installments, are subject to a discount of two and one-half 
percent. If taxes are not paid on or before the date on which they become delinquent, including 
both first and second installments, interest at the rate of nine percent per annum is added from 
the date they become delinquent until paid. 

The sheriff of each county, as ex officio county treasurer, collects all taxes levied in 
that particular county. Each month the sheriff is required to pay all monies collected for any 
municipal corporation into the respective treasury of that municipality, payment to be made on 
or before the tenth day of each month for all monies collected during the preceding month. 
After the sheriff has collected eighty-five percent of the combined total of all taxes assessed on 
real and personal property, the sherifI' is allowed a commission of two and one-half percent, 
not to exceed $15,000, on the remainder of the taxes actually collected, exclusive of interest 
and charges thereon. The commission so allowed is charged against the various funds for 
which the taxes are collected. 

All municipalities within the state are authorized to levy taxes not in excess of the 
following maximum levies per $100 of assessed valuation: (l) For the payment of principal 
and interest upon bonded indebtedness on Class I property, one and five-tenths (1.5¢); on Class 
II property, three cents (3.0¢); and on class IV property, six cents (6.0¢); and (2) for general 
current expense purposes on Class I property, eleven cents (lI.O¢); on Class II property, 
twenty-two cents, (22.0¢); and on Class IV property forty-four cents (44.0¢). However, if 
levies are not needed for the payment of principal and interest, the levy rates may be combined 
for the following maximum levies per $100 of assessed valuation: On Class I property. twelve 
and five-tenths cents (l2.5¢); on Class II property, twenty-five cents (25.0¢); and on Class IV 
property, fifty cents (50.0¢). The levy rates of the City of Wheeling, West Virginia for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 were assessed as follows: 

Assessed Class Valuation for Current Excess Bond 
Of Property Tax Purposes Expense Rate Rate 

Class I $ $ 11.85 $ 3.55 $ 0.65 
Class II 414,264,764 23.70 7.10 1.30 
Class IV 548,920,888 47.40 14.20 2.60 
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JUNE 30, 2009 

A summary of changes in fixed assets for the tiscal year ended June 30, 2009 is as follows: 

Beginning Balance 
Governmental Activities: 7/1/2008 Additions Deductions 

Non-Depreciable capital assets: 
Land $ 2,985,284 $ 665,940 $ 
Construction in progress 159,992 
Depreciable capital assets: 
Land Improvements 1,047,155 202,477 
Buildings and improvements 9,470,385 
Vehicles and Equip 10,772,013 799,225 
Infrastructure 46,951,363 434,342 

Total Governmental 71,226,200 2,261,976 

Beginning Balance 
Business-Type Activities: 7/1/2008 Additions Deductions 

Non-Depreciable capital assets: 
Land 1,450,414 65,000 
Construction in progress 1,907,750 2,527,830 140,721 
Depreciable capital assets: 
Parking Structures & Equip 5,871,094 42,145 30,336 
Utility Plant, In Service 115,511,047 508,112 42,024 

Total Business-Type $ 124,740,305 $ 3,143,087 $ 213,081 

Depreciation Expense charged to departments on the government wide statement of activities is as follows: 

General government 
Public safety 
Streets and transportation 
Health and sanitation 
Culture and recreation 

Total 

$ 

$ 

68,592 
657,068 
371,943 

53,796 
504,959 

1,656,358 
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$ 

$ 

Accumulated Prior DeQreciation 
Balance DeQreciation Year EXQense Net 

6/30/2009 Prior Years Adjustment Current Year 6/30/2009 

3,651,224 $ $ $ 3,651,224 
159,992 159,992 

1,249,632 73,671 45,648 1,130,313 
9,470,385 3,966,383 307,064 5,196,937 

11,571,238 5,745,461 847,110 4,978,667 
47,385,705 33,351,010 456,536 13,578,159 

73,488,176 43,136,526 $ 1,656,358 28,695,292 

Accumulated Prior 
Balance DeQreciation Year Net 

6/30/2009 Prior Years Adjustment Current Year 6/30/2009 

1,515,414 1,515,414 
4,294,859 4,294,859 

5,882,903 4,611,807 143,123 1,127,973 
115,977,135 55,197,863 380,822 2,321,899 58,076,551 

127,670,310 $ 59,809,670 $ 380,822 $ 2,465,022 $ 65,014,796 



5. Budget 

CITY OF WHEELING 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2009 

The City prepares fonnal budgets for the General Fund and Coal Severance Tax 
Fund only. The annual budgets are amended by City Council from time to time with prior 
approval by the State Tax Commissioner. The budgeted amounts reported in the accompanying 
financial statements reflect separately the original and revised amounts. The City's General 
Fund and Coal Severance budget process utilizes the cash basis. The cash basis recognizes 
revenues and expenditures when received and paid and does not record receivables and 
payables. The General Fund and Coal Severance Fund tinancial statements are reported using 
the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of 
accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. 
Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or 
soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. 

As a result, the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balance- Budget and Actual- General Fund reflects adjustments from the budget (cash) basis to 
the modified accrual basis. The adjustments reflect accrual adjustments related to the 
recognition of revenues and expenditures for receivables and payables that are recognized on 
the modified accrual basis. In addition, other adjustments represent reclassifYing transfers to 
other funds for specific purposes from expenditures on the budget basis to transfers out on the 
modified accrual basis as well as recording revenues and expenditures for transactions where 
cash amounts received are net of a fee or for financing transaction where the cash does not 
pass-through the City'S cash accounts. 

During the year the City made five revisions to the General Fund Budget and one 
revisions to the Coal Severance Budget. 

6. Retirement Systems 

The City participates in three single-employer, defined benefit, public employee 
retirement plans and a defined contribution, money purchase pension plan related to WPCD. 
Assets are held separately and may be used only for the payment of benefits to the members of 
the respective plans. 

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS 

Annual Required Contributions 
Actuarial assumptions and other infonnation used to detennine the annual required 

contributions (ARC) for the three plans are located in the Required Supplementary Infonnation 
section of the report. 

Reserves 
There are no assets legally reserved tor purposes other than the payment of plan 

member benefits for the three plans. There are no long-tenn contracts for contribntions. 
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6. Retirement Systems (Continued) 

The City of Wheeling Employee's Retirement and Benefit Fund 

Plan Summary 

All pennanent full-time employees under age 50, at the time of their employment, 
are eligible to participate in this program (excluding firemen and policemen who are covered 
by separate plans - see below). An employee who attains age 60 has a vested right to a 
retirement benet it provided they have a total service credit of ten or more years. The 
employee's monthly retirement benefit is equal to the sum of the following: 

1) 25% of average monthly salary for the first ten years of total service credit, plus 
2) 1.9231% of average monthly salary times total service credit in excess of ten 

years but not in excess of twenty-three years, plus 
3) 1.6667% of average monthly salary times total service credit in excess of 

twenty three years but not in excess of thirty five years. 

Memberships of the plans are as follows: 

Non-vested active members 19 
Fully vested active members 208 
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 76 
Terminated plan members entitled to but not yet 

receiving benefits 6 
Total 309 

Eligible employees contribute 6% of their monthly salary. The total eligible payroll 
for fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 was $6,797,790. The total employee's contribution was 
$407,376. The plan's fund balance as of June 30, 2009 is $24,833,793. The City's contribution 
for the year ended June 30, 2009 was $ -0-. 

ARC and Significant Actuarial Assumptions 

The pension benefit obligation is the actuarial present value of credited projected 
benefits. It is a standardized disclosure measure of the present value of pension benefits, 
adjusted for the effects of projected salary increases and any step-rate benefits, estimated to be 
payable in the future as a result of employee service to date. According to the most recent 
actuarial report as of July 1,2008, the average annual salary for benefits was $33,503. There 
were 76 pensioners as of June 30, 2008 receiving an average of $11,718 in pension benefits. 
Administrative costs are financed with investment earnings. 
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6. Retirement Systems (Continued) 

The City of Wheeling Employee's Retirement and Benefit Fund (Continued) 

The actuarial assumptions and other information used to determine the ARC are as follows: 

Valuation date: 
Actuarial cost method: 
Amortization method: 
Actuarial asset valuation method: 
Actuarial assumptions 

Investment rate of return: 
Project salary increases: 
Retirement rates: 

Funding Progress 

Actuarial Evaluation Date 

Actuarial Value of Assets 

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) 

7/1108 
Entry age normal cost 
Level percent of salary 
Market value 

8.00% 
4.50% 
Earlier of age 63 and 10 

years of service 

7/1108 

$ 28,604,192 

$ 24,912,048 

(Overfunded) Underfunded (UAAL) $ (3,692,144) 

Funded Ratio 114% 

Covered Payroll $ 6,797,790 

UAAL as a % of Covered Payroll (54)% 

The schedule of funding progress included in the required supplementary 
information immediately following the notes indicates that the actuarial value of plan assets 
(increase of22%) is over time relative to the increase in the actuarial accrued liability (increase 
of33%). 

Trend Information 

Annual Percentage Net 
Fiscal Required of Minimum Pension 
Year Contribution Contributed Obligation 
2009 $ 0 100% $ 0 
2008 0 100% 0 
2007 0 100% 0 
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6. Retirement Systems (Continued) 

Firemen's Pension and Relief Fund 

Plan Summary 

All pennanent full-time fire department personnel are covered by this plan which is 
being funded in accordance with Chapter 8, Article 22 of the West Virginia Code. To be 
eligible for a regular retirement pension under this plan, the member must have completed at 
least 20 years of credited service. The nonnal retirement benefit commences on the 
participants nonnal retirement date or the date he attains age 50, if later. The monthly benefit 
is a percentage of the highest three year average countable compensation. This percentage is 
detennined based on years of service. The percentage ranges from 60% of countable 
compensation for 20 years of service to 75% for 30 years. 

Eligible firemen contribute 7% of their monthly salary. The total eligible payroll 
for fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 was $3,698,169. The total employee contribution was 
$258,953. The plan's fund balance as of June 30, 2009 is $8,735,846. 

The City does not contribute to the firemen's plan based upon the recommendations 
in the latest actuarial study. The City'S contributions are based upon a fifteen year solvency 
plan which stipulates the minimum contribution the City may make to this plan. This 
contribution method has been approved by the West Virginia legislature and projects the 
Firemen's Pension or Relief Fund to be solvent under this method for the next consecutive 
fifteen year period. This solvency plan must be actuarially updated on an annual basis. 

The minimum required contribution of the City and State was $2,216,305. Actual 
contributions were $2,716,306 for the year ended June 30, 2009. 

ARC and Significant Actuarial Assumptions 

The pension benefit obligation is the actuarial present value of credited projected 
benefits. It is a standardized disclosure measure of the present value of pension benefits, 
adjusted for the effects of projected salary increases and any step-rate benefits, estimated to be 
payable in the future as a result of employee service to date. According to the most recent 
actuarial report, as of July 1,2008, the average annual salary for benefits was $39,179. There 
were 123 pensioners as of June 30, 2008 receiving an average of $19,754 in pension benefits 
with expected cost-of-living increases up to 4%. 
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6. Retirement Systems (Continued) 

Firemen's Pension and Relief Fund (Continued) 

The actuarial assumptions and other infonnation used to detennine the ARC are as follows: 

Valuation date: 
Actuarial cost method: 
Amortization method: 
Actuarial asset valuation method: 
Actuarial assumptions 

Investment rate of return: 
Project salary increases: 
Retirement rates: 

Funding Progress 

Actuarial Evaluation Date 

Actuarial Value of Assets 

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) 

(Overfunded) Underfunded (UAAL) 

Funded Ratio 

Covered Payroll 

UAAL as a % of Covered Payroll 

7/1108 
Entry age nonnal cost 
Level percent of salary 
Market value 

8.00% 
5.00% 
Earlier of age 55 or 30 

years of service 

7/1108 

$ 9,269,154 

$ 38,829,931 

$ 29,560,777 

23% 

$ 3,698,169 

799% 

The schedule of funding progress included in the required supplementary 
infonnation immediately following the notes indicates that the actuarial value of plan assets 
(increase of 105%) is over time relative to the increase in the actuarial accrued liability 
(increase of 16%). 

Trend Information 

Annual Percentage Net 
Fiscal Required of Minimum Pension 
Year Contribution Contributed Obligation 
2009 $ 2,216,305 122% $ 0 
2008 2,169,436 124% 0 
2007 2,072,412 135% 0 
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6. Retirement Systems (Continued) 

Policemen's Pension and Relief Fund 

Plan Summary 

All permanent full-time police department personnel are covered by this plan which 
is being funded in accordance with Chapter 8, Article 22 of the West Virginia Code. To be 
eligible for a regular retirement pension under the plan, the member must have completed at 
least 20 years of credited service. The normal retirement benefit commences on the 
participants' normal retirement date or the date he attains age 50, if later. The annual normal 
retirement pension, payable monthly, is 60% of the participant's average annual salary for 20 
years of service, up to 75% for 30 years service. 

Eligible policemen contribute 7% of their monthly salary. The total eligible payToll 
for fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 was $3,148,947. The total employee contribution was 
$221,612. The plan's fund balance as ofJune 30, 2009 is $8,981,589. 

The City does not contribute to the policemen's plan based upon the latest actuarial 
study. The City's contributions are based upon a fifteen year solvency plan which stipulates the 
minimum contribution the City may make to this plan. This contribution method has been 
approved by the West Virginia legislature and projects the Policemen's Pension or Relief Fund 
to be solvent under this method for the next consecutive fifteen-year period. This solvency plan 
must be actuarially updated on an annual basis. 

The minimum required contribution of the City and State was $2,098,455. Actual 
contributions were $2,598,455 for the year ended June 30, 2009. 

ARC and Significant Actuarial Assumptions 

The pension benefit obligation is the actuarial present value of credited projected 
benefits. It is a standardized disclosure measure of the present value of pension benefits, 
adjusted for the etTects of projected salary increases and any step-rate benefits, estimated to be 
payable in the future as a resutt of employee service to date. According to the most recent 
actuarial report, as of July 1, 2008, the average annual salary for benefits was $38,979. There 
were 102 pensioners as of June 30, 2008 receiving an average of $20,674 in pension benefits 
with expected cost-of-living increases up to 4%. 
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6. Retirement Systems (Continued) 

Policemen's Pension and Relief Fund (Continued) 

The actuarial assumptions and other information used to determine the ARC are as follows: 

Valuation date: 
Actuarial cost method: 
Amortization method: 
Actuarial asset valuation method: 
Actuarial assumptions 

Investment rate of return: 
Project salary increases: 
Retirement rates: 

Funding Progress 

Actuarial Evaluation Date 

Actuarial Value of Assets 

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) 

711108 
Entry age normal cost 
Level percent of salary 
Market value 

8.00% 
5.00% 
Earlier of age 55 or 30 

years of service 

7/1/08 

$ 9,297,957 

$ 32,719,730 

(Overfunded) Underfunded (UAAL) $ 23,421,773 

Funded Ratio 28% 

Covered PayTOn $ 3,148,947 

UAAL as a % of Covered Payroll 743% 

The schedule of funding progress included in the required supplementary 
information immediately following the notes indicates that the actuarial value of plan assets 
(increase of 155%) is over time relative to the increase in the aetuarial accrued liability 
(increase of21 %). 

Trend Information 

Minimum Percentage Net 
Fiscal Required of Minimum Pension 
Year Contribution Contributed Obligation 
2009 $ 2,098,455 123% $ 0 
2008 2,024,024 125% 0 
2007 1,938,917 137% 0 

(51 ) 



CITY OF WHEELING 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2009 

6. Retirement Systems (Continued) 

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 

Water Pollution Control Division Pension Plan 

On September 15, 1976, a money purchase pension plan was established for 
employees of the Water Pollution Control Division. The plan is administered by the Water 
Pollution Control Division and is governed by the laws of West Virginia applicable to pension 
plans. To be eligible, an employee must have attained the age of 18. Contributions are based on 
6% of an eligible employee's annual salary with a 6% match provided by the employer. 
Normal retirement benefits commence when the participant has attained the age of 65. 
Participants are eligible for early retirement benefits, provided that they have attained the age 
of 55 and completed 15 years of service. For the year ended June 30, 2009, employee and 
employer contributions were $30,730 and $30,899, respectively. 

EtTective July 1, 1982, all newly hired employees are required to participate in the 
retirement plans sponsored by the City and may no longer participate in the Water Pollution 
Control Division Plan. 

Fund Assets 

The assets of each of the retirement and pension funds are invested in various 
equity securities, obligations of the United States government and United States government 
agencies. Any purchase discount or premilUns associated with the purchase of these securities 
is recorded, as a current asset or liability, at the date of purchase and is amortized from that 
time through the date of sale or maturity. Current year amortization of these discounts or 
premiums is included in operating revenue/expense for each fund. 

The cost and fair market value of the investments of each fund at June 30, 2009, are 
as follows: 

Cost Market Value 
Employees' Retirement and 

Benefit Fund $ 26,703,336 $ 24,724,814 
Firemen's Pension and 
Relief Fund 9,499,189 8,782,829 

Policemen's Pension and 
Relief Fund 9,906,666 9,069,635 

Water Pollution Control Division 
Pension Plan 1,979,167 2,169,523 
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6. Retirement Svstems (Continued) 

Investment Detail 

As of June 30, 2009, the City's pension funds held the following investments. 

Employee's Firemen's Policemen's 
Retirement and Pension and Pension and WPCD 
Benefit Fund Relief Fund Relief Fund Pension Plan Total 

Money 
Markets $ 538,091 $ 565,278 $ 490,887 $ 138,732 $ 1,732,989 

U.S. Gov't 
Obligations 3,283,655 1,085,296 1,090,414 5,459,365 
U.S Gov't 
Agency 
Obligations 4,029,208 1,339,633 1,310,737 36,761 6,716,339 

Corporate 
Obligations 4,185,627 1,329,639 1,394,791 185,197 7,095,253 

Mutual 
Funds 59,800 30,351 30,050 1,235,290 1,355,490 

Common 
Stock 12,628,434 4,432,631 4,752,757 498,948 22,312,770 

Preferred 
Stock 71,668 71,668 

Common 
Trust Funds 2,928 2,928 

Total $ 24,724,814 $ 8,782,829 $ 9,069,635 $ 2,169,523 $ 44,746,802 

Investment Policy - The City'S Pension Plans follow West Virginia State Code 8-22-22a as 
their Investment Policy. 

Concentration of Credit Risk - No individual investments in anyone issuer represent more 
than 5% of the total investments for all four pension funds. Additionally, within each pension 
fund, no individual investment in anyone issue represents more than 5% of the total 
investment for that fund, except for those that are issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. 
government. 

Credit Risk -The City's investments in the above securities are rated as is shown in Schedules 
A, B, C, and D. The City'S investment policy does not specify that investments must be rated 
at a specified level. 

Interest Rate Risk - The specific identification method presents a list of each investment, its 
amount, its maturity date, and any call options. Schedules A, B, C, and D detail this 
information for each of the four pension plans. 
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(a) Water and Sewer Funds-
Revenue Bonds - The City issued $20,600,000 of Combined Waterworks 

and Sewerage System Refunding Revenue Bonds on January I, 1997 for the purpose of 
refunding outstanding Revenue Bonds dated May I, 1992 which were issued for the purpose of 
funding additions, betterments and improvements to the City's Combined Waterworks and 
Sewerage System. The 1997 bonds were issued at interest rates from 3.65% to 5.629%, 
payable semiannually, with principal retirements through June 30, 2016. Proceeds from the 
new issue were placed in an Escrow account to defease the original issue as these bonds 
mature. The debt service cash flow requirements of the new issue versus the old issue are 
substantially the same. 

The January I, 1997 transaction resulted in a deferred loss (debt discount) of 
$1,359,545 and $616,543 for the Water and Sewer fund respectively. This deferred loss is 
being amortized over the remaining life of the bonds. The transaction also resulted in a cash 
surplus of $309,750 for the Water fund and $215,250 for the Sewer fund, which amounts were 
deposited to their respective construction accounts. 

The total of these bonds outstanding at June 30, 2009 was $7,470,000 ($4,407,300 
for Water, $3,062,700 for Sewer). 

Series 2005A Revenue Bonds - On May 5, 2005, the Sewer department 
began drawing on the $14,500,000 Series 2005A Revenue Bonds. The purpose of these 
bonds is to finance the construction of the Sewer department improvements project. Interest 
and principal payments began on March I, 2007, at which time the interest rate was 2%. 
There is also a 1 % administrative fee in effect for these bonds. The drawn down balance at 
June 30, 2009 was $12,986,311. During fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, $613,980 and 
$267,247 was paid in principal and interest and fees respectively. 

Series 2006A Revenue Bonds - On September 26, 2006 the Water 
department issued $12,000,000 Series 2006A Revenue Bonds. The purpose of these bonds is 
to finance the Water department's infrastructure improvements. The 2006A Revenue Bonds 
were issued at a 4.70% interest rate, payable semiannually, with principal payments beginning 
June I, 2008. During fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, $548,631 and $225,000 was paid in 
interest and principal, respectively. The outstanding bond balance at June 30, 2009 was 
$11,560,000. The September 26, 2006 transaction resulted in a deferred gain (debt premiwn) 
of $306,639 for the Water fund. This deferred gain is being amortized over the remaining life 
of the bonds. 

(b) General Obligation Bonds - During 2003, the City issued $2,600,000 of 
general obligation bonds, for the purpose of financing major building improvements. The 
bonds were issued at interest rates ranging from 3% to 4.75% payable semiannually, with 
principal retirement annually through November I, 2028. The total of bonds outstanding at 
June 30, 2009, was $2,255,000. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, $70,000 of the 
2003 general obligation bonds matured and was repaid. 
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7. Long-Term Debt (Continued) 

(e) Series 2005A TIF Bonds - In September 2005, the City issued $4,115,000 Series 
2005A Bonds for the Stone Building Renovation Project. These bonds are special limited 
obligations of the City, payable solely from revenues generated through T<L,( Increment 
revenue generated from the TIF district. The bonds were issued at interest rates ranging from 
3.75% to 5.50%, payable semiannually, with principal retirement annually through May I, 
2033. The total of bonds outstanding at June 30, 2009 was $3,680,000. During the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2009, $80,000 of the TIF revenue bonds matured and was repaid. 

(d) Subordinate Series 2008A TIF Bonds - In September 2008, the City issued 
$715,000 Subordinate Series 2008A Bonds purchase properties on Main and Market Street. 
These bonds are special limited obligations of the City, payable solely from revenues generated 
through Tax Increment revenue generated from the TIF district. The lien on Tax Increment 
revenue is subordinate to the lien on the Series 2005A TIF Bonds described above. The bonds 
were issued at an 4.20% interest rate, payable semiannually, with the maturity date being May 
1, 2033. However, the City is repaying the bonds based on the Extraordinary Mandatory 
Redemption Clause within the indenture which calls for the maturity dates as listed below. 
The total of bonds outstanding at June 30, 2009 was $540,000. During the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2009, $175,000 of the TIF revenue bonds matured and was repaid. 

(e) The Water and Sewer Revenue, the General Obligation, 2005A TIF revenue, 
and 2008A TIF revenue bonds mature as follows: 

Water Subordinate 
Fiscal and Sewer Sewer Water 2005A 2008A 
Year Revenue Revenue Revenue General TIF Revenue TIF Revenue 

Maturity Series 1997 Series 2005 Series 2006 Obli"ation Bonds Bonds 
2010 1,570,000 626,352 235,000 75,000 80,000 175,000 

2011 1,655,000 638,973 240,000 75,000 85,000 180,000 

2012 1,745,000 651,849 250,000 80,000 90,000 185,000 

2013 575,000 664,984 260,000 85,000 95,000 

2014 610.000 678,384 270,000 90,000 100,000 
2015-2019 1,315,000 3,602,558 1,525,000 525,000 575,000 
2020-2024 3,980,450 1,920,000 660,000 735,000 

2025-2029 2,142,761 2,390,000 665,000 950,000 

2030-2034 3,035,000 970,000 

2035-2039 1,435,000 

$ 7,470,000 $ 12,986,311 $ 11,560,000 $ 2,255,000 $ 3,680,000 $ 540,000 
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7. Long-Term Debt (Continued) 

(d) The Water and Sewer Revenue, the General Obligation and TIF revenue bonds 
have interest due as follows: 

Water Subordinate 

And Sewer Sewer Water 2005A 2008A 

Fiscal Year Revenue Revenue Revenue General TIFRevenue TIF Revenue 

Maturity Series 1997 Series 2005 Series 2006 Obligation Bonds Bonds 

2010 391,888 255,076 540,194 98,127 193,113 22,680 

2011 308,137 242,455 531,381 95,653 190,313 15,330 

2012 218,215 229,579 522,381 92.990 186,275 7,770 

2013 121,688 216,444 513,006 90,030 182,000 

2014 73,287 203,044 502,606 86,800 177,488 
2015-2019 89,100 804,583 2,336,031 375,765 809,378 
2020-2024 414,926 1,941,587 249,963 643,490 

2025-2029 71,170 1,476,814 80,988 428,490 

2030-2034 828,824 136,675 

2035-2039 108,476 

$ 1,202,315 $ 2,437,277 $ 9,301,300 $ 1,170,316 $ 2,947,222 $ 45,780 

(e) The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 
2009. 

Governmental Activities 
Payable at Payable at 

June 30, 2008 Additions Deductions June 30, 2009 
Gen. oblig bonds payable $ 2,325,000 $ $ 70,000 $ 2,255,000 
2005A TIF revenue bonds payable 3,760,000 80,000 3,680,000 
2008A TIF revenue bonds payable 715,000 175,000 540,000 
Capital leases payable 657,325 106,940 195,223 569,042 
Notes payable ].917,207 109,727 1,807,480 

Total governmental $ 8,659,532 $ 821,940 $ 629,950 $ 8,851,522 

Business-Type Activities 
Bonds payable $ 34,333,866 $ 11,425 $ 2,328,980 $ 32,016,311 
Capital leases payable 

Total Business Activities $ 34,333,866 $ 11,425 $ 2.328,980 $ 11 
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8. Deposits and Investments 

Custodial Credit Risk-

Deposits - The City has $3,665,982 in deposits with financial institutions collateralized by 
securities held by the pledging financial institutions or their agents in the City's name. The 
City also has $3,125,544 in deposits with financial institutions that are collateralized by 
securities held by the pledging financial institutions trust department or agent but not in the 
City's name. 

Investments - Investments made by the City are summarized below: 
Fund TIpe 

Bnsiness-Type 
Governmental Fiduciary Activities Total 

Money markets $ 880,113 $ 1,732,989 $ 2,240,352 $ 4,853,454 

Municipal Bond Comm. Pool 140,886 3,155,740 3,296,626 

U.S. Gov't Obligations 5,459,365 5,459,365 

U.S. Gov't Agency Oblig. 6,716,339 6,716,339 

Corporate Obligations 7,095,253 7,095,253 

Mutual Funds 1,355,490 1,355,490 

Common stock 22,312,770 22,312,770 

Preferred stock 71,668 71,668 

Common Collective Trusts 2,928 2,928 

Total investments $ 1,020,999 $ 44,746,802 $ 5,396,092 $ 51,163,893 

Concentration of credit, interest rate, and credit risks 

Fiduciary Funds- Concentration of credit, interest rate, and credit risks related to 
the Fiduciary Funds' investments can be found in Note 6 as well as in Schedules A, B, C, and D. 
All of the fiduciary funds' investments are insured or registered securities held by the City or its 
agent in the City's name. 

Governmental and Proprietary Funds - On the Statement of Net Assets and 
Balance Sheet the governmental and proprietary money market and Municipal Bond Commission 
Pool investments are included in cash and cash equivalents and various restricted cash and cash 
equivalent accounts. All of the governmental and proprietary investments are insured or registered 
securities held by the City or its agent in the City's name. The governmental and proprietary 
investments are rated using Standard & Poor's and Moody's Investment Services. The credit 
ratings and maturity ranges of these investments is as follows: 

Maturity and Credit Risk Ratings 
Maturity Range Standard & Poor's Moody's 

Money markets Less than 1 year AAAml AAAm-G Aaa 

Municipal Bond Comm. Pool Less than 1 year AAA AAA 
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9. Accrued Interest Payable 

Governmental Activities 
Accrued interest payable in the Governmental Activities column on the Statement 

of Net Assets represents accrued interest on the HUD Note Payable, the 2003 General 
Obligation Bonds, the 2005A TIF Bonds, and the Subordinate 2008A TIF Bonds for varying 
periods through June 30, 2009. 

Major Proprietary Funds 
Sewer Fund - Accrued interest payable represents interest expense on 

outstanding bonds for the period from June I, to June 30, 2009. 
Water Fund - Accrued interest payable represents interest expense on 

outstanding bonds for the period from June I, to June 30, 2009. 

10. Unamortized Debt Discount and Premium 

The original bond discount and expense from the issuance of the 1997 Water and 
Sewer revenue bonds is being amortized on the outstanding principal balance method. The 
unamortized debt discount at June 30, 2009 is $444,602 and $533,164 for Water and Sewer 
respectively on the Proprietary and Government-Wide Statement of Net Assets. 

The 2006 A revenue Water bonds were issued at a premium of $306,639, this 
amount is being amortized on the outstanding principal balance method. The unamortized 
debt premium at June 30, 2009 is $275,975 for Water on the Proprietary and Government­
Wide Statement of Net Assets. The discount and premium amounts are netted against current 
and long-term revenue bonds payable. 

The original bond discount from the issuance of the TIF revenue bonds is being 
amortized using the effective interest method. The unamortized debt discount at June 30, 
2009 is $28,387. This amount is netted against current and non-current maturity of bonds 
payable on the Government-Wide Statement of Net Assets in the amounts of $2,009 and 
$26,378 respectively. 

11. Contingencies and Litigation 

Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and 
adjustment by grantor agencies, principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims, 
including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The 
amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be 
determined at this time although the government expects such amounts, if any, to be 
immaterial. 

The City of Wheeling is the defendant in a number of lawsuits arising principally 
in the normal course of operations. All claims are protected by insurance. up to a certain 
amount, and would not likely have a material effect on the financial statements. The City 
intends to aggressively defend each case against it. 
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12. Accrued Sick Pay 

Sick pay is granted to all full time employees and accrues at varying rates based 
upon the number of years of service and the number of days accrued. There is no ceiling to the 
accumulation. Employees are not paid accumulated sick days upon termination. however. 
employees who retire while employed by the City will receive partial payments for their 
accrued sick days. 

No liability for sick leave has been recorded as it is not subject to reasonable 
estimation. 

13. Loan Programs 

The City. as part of its Community Development Block Grant Program. has 
initiated various revolving and rehabilitation loan funds. 

The City. as part of its Home Program. provides first-time home buyer loans to 
citizens of the City as well as citizens of surrounding partici pating entities. 

14. Minimum Lease Obligation 

At June 30. 2009. the City has four outstanding lease agreements which were made 
for the purchase of eight 2008 Crown Victorias (two leases four vehicles each). two 2008 
Dodge Durangos, and a fire truck. The cost and accumulated depreciation for assets under 
capital lease at June 30. 2009 totals $1.069,466 and $208,094, respectively. The total lease 
payments less interest costs are as follows: 

June 30. 2010 
June 30, 2011 
June 30. 2012 
June 30. 2013 
June 30. 2014 
June 30. 2015 

Less: Interest Costs 
Present value of future 
Minimum lease payments 

15. Artisan Center Lease 

$ 

$ 

177,045 
124.808 
87.787 
87,787 
87.787 
87.787 

(83,959) 

569.042 

The City of Wheeling entered into a lease agreement with the Wheeling National 
Heritage Area Corporation (\VNHAC). a non profit organization. on October 5. 1994 wherein 
the city leases the Artisan Center Building to WNHAC for a period of ten years. Pursuant to 
the terms of the agreement, this lease may be automatically renewed for three successive ten 
year terms. In lieu of rent the city has agreed to accept substantial improvements, maintenance 
and operation of the Artisan Center by WNHAC. In October 2004. the lease agreement was 
automatically renewed for the second ten year period, expiring October 5. 2014. 
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16. Self-Insurance Letter of Credit 

The City of Wheeling is self-insured for workers' compensation. The City has a 
$1,000,000 letter of credit (with interest rate of 4.69%) with a local financial institution for 
security against workers' compensation claims which expires on July 12, 2009. At June 30, 
2009, the outstanding balance on this letter of credit is zero. In addition, no draws were made 
on the letter during fiscal year 2009. The letter of credit has been renewed effective July 12, 
2009 for one year in the amount 01'$1,000,000. However effective October 26,2009, the letter 
of credit has been increased to $1,370,413 and expires on October 26, 2010. 

17. Note Payable HUD 

HUD loaned the City of Wheeling $2,250,000 for the restoration of the Wheeling 
Stamping Building. HUD is currently guaranteeing the loan. The City of Wheeling loaned 
these same funds to the Ohio Valley Industrial and Business Development Corporation 
(OVIBDC). During fiscal year 2005, OVIBDC paid the remaining balance of $2,150,000 to 
the City. During fiscal year 2006, the City used most of this money to pay for the buildup of 
the infrastructure at a commercial development site (Lowes). Principal and interest payments 
from the City are due to HUD based upon the following: 

2010 
2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 

2015-2019 
2020-2021 

Total 

18. Conduit Debt 

$ 

$ 

Principal 
125,000 
125,000 
125,000 
125,000 
125,000 
750,000 
375,000 

1,750,000 

$ 

$ 

Interest 
87,772 
81,554 
75,298 
69,016 
62,716 

206,764 
21,299 

604,419 

The City is the conduit issuer of bonds held on behalf of the Wheeling Park 
Commission, a public agency of the City. Outstanding Series include the 2003, 2004 A, and 
2004 B. These bond proceeds were used to refund previous bonds (2003) as well as to 
renovate and expand (2003, 2004 A, and 2004 B) the Wilson Lodge at Oglebay Park. The 
aggregate outstanding balance of these bonds at June 30, 2009 is $9,551,869. The City has no 
obligation for this debt. 

19. Receivables and Uncollectible Accounts 
Governmental Funds: 

Taxes receivable include business and occupation taxes, property taxes, and utility 
excise taxes. Charges for services receivables include amounts due from customers for 
sanitation services, fire service fee, and ambulance services. These receivables are due within 
one year. Certain funds report accounts receivable net of an allowance for uncollectible 
accounts and revenues net of uncollectibles. Related amounts are shown in the following 
table: 
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19. Receivables and Uncollectible Accounts (Continued) 
Other 

General Home Governmental 
Receivable TJ::Ee Fund Fund Funds 

Taxes $ 3,044,559 $ $ 46,020 
Charges for services 1,870,529 
Fees and other receivables 291,397 
Loans 2,285,520 1,532,624 
Intergovernmental 115,651 5,586 143,570 

Less: Allowances for uncollectible (998,230) (356,528) 

Net receivable $ 4,323,906 $ 2.291,107 $ I ,365,686 

Uncollectible netted with revenue $ 10,900 $ $ 1,142 

Proprietary Funds: 

Receivables include amounts due from customers primarily for water and sewer 
services. These receivables are due within one year. Certain enterprise funds report accounts 
receivable net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts and revenues net of uncollectibles. 
The allowance amount is estimated using accounts receivable past due more than 90 days. 
Related amounts are shown in the following table: 

Accounts receivable 
Less: allowances for 
Uncollective accounts 

Net account receivable 

Sewer 
Fund 

$ 1,472,381 

(538,629) 
$ 933,752 

$ 

$ 

Water 
Fund 

1,268,105 

(416,521) 
851,584 

20. Benefits Funded by the State of West Virginia 

Parking 
Fund Total 

$ 122,906 $ 2,863,392 

~955, 150l 
$ 122,906 $ 1,908,242 

For fiscal year 2009, the State of West Virginia contributed payments on behalf of 
City employees as follows: 

Plan Amount 
City of Wheeling Policemen's Pension 

and Relief Fund 
City of Wheeling Firemen's Pension 
and Relief Fund 

$811,948 

$989,187 

State contributions are funded by allocations of the state's insurance premium tax. 
The City is not legally responsible for these contributions. 
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21. Due FromlTo Other Funds 

Generally, outstanding balances between funds reported as "due from/to other funds" 
are related to purposes described in Note 2 as well as for other miscellaneous receivables/ 
payables between funds. 

Any residual balances outstanding between governmental activities and business-type 
activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as "internal balances." 

The following schedule reports receivables and payables within the Primary 
Government at fiscal year end: 

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities 
Governmental Activities: Nonmajor Total Due 
lvfajor Governmental Funds General Funds Water Sewer To 
General Fund $ $ 65,578 $ $ $ 65,578 
Home Fund 1,532 1,532 
Nonmajor Funds 15,385 628 16,0 l3 

Business-type Activities: 
Sewer 28,731 2,263 127,638 158,632 
Water 1,119 2,736 3,414 7,269 
Parking 20,000 20,000 

Total Due From $ 66,767 $ 71,205 $ 127,638 $ 3,414 $ 269,024 

22. Related Organizations 

City Council and/or the City Manager are responsible for appointing members of 
other boards or commissions. The City's accountability for these boards or commissions does 
not extend beyond making appointments. City Council appoints board members to the 
following boards or commissions: Planning Commission, Board of Health, Ohio Valley 
Regional Transportation Authority, Recreation Commission, Municipal Service Commission, 
Municipal Auditorium Board, Hall of Fame Board, Wheeling Park Commission, Human 
Rights Commission, Historic Landmarks Commission, and Centre Market Commission. 

23. Other Post-Employment Benefits 

The government does not provide post-retirement health benefits except those 
mandated by the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation at (COBRA). The requirements 
established by COBRA are fully funded by employees who elect coverage under the Act, and 
no direct costs are incurred by the City. 
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Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables for 
revenues that are not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. 
Governmental funds also defer revenue recognition in connection with resources that have 
been received, but not yet earned. At the end of the current fiscal year, the various components 
of deferred revenue and unearned revenue reported in the governmental funds were as follows: 

Governmental Funds Deferred Revenue Types 

Descriptions 
Grant draws prior to meeting 
all eligibility requirements 
Taxes 
Prepaid Licenses 
Totals 

25. Risks and Uncertainties 

$ 

$ 

Unavailable Unearned 

$ 2,778,658 
276,839 

27,060 
276,839 $ 2,805,718 

The City's Pension Trust Funds invest in various investment securities and mutual 
funds. Investment securities and mutual funds are exposed to various risks such as interest 
rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment 
securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment securities 
will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially affect the amounts reported 
in the statement of fiduciary net assets. 

The actuarial present values of pension benefit obligations in Note 6 are reported 
based on certain assumptions pertaining to interest rates and employee demographics, all of 
which are subject to change. Due to uncertainties inherent in the estimations and assumptions 
process, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in these estimates and assumptions in the 
near term would be material to the financial statements. 

26. Violation of Bond Covenants 

The City of Wheeling, Water and WPCD Departments, failed to meet the debt 
service rate coverage requirements in accordance with covenants of the various bond issues as 
of June 30, 2009. Subsequent to year-end, the Water and WPCD departments have 
implemented rate increases to correct this violation. 
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27. Prior Period Adjustments 

Several prior period adjustments were made to record items that were previously 
omitted from the financial statements or to correct errors in previously issued financial 
statements. These adjustments were: 

1) To add the Public Safety Fund which was previously omitted. Thc adjustment as 
ofJuly 1, 2008 increased net assets by $188,197. 

2) To add a WPCD Pension Plan which was previously omitted. The adjustment as 
of July 1, 2008 increased net assets by $2,589,479. 

3) To correct accumulated depreciation related to WPCD which was previously 
reported incorrectly. The adjustment as of July 1, 2008 decreased net assets by 
$380,822. 
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EMPLOYEE'S RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACEI MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

MONEY MARKETS 

538,901 Federated Prime Obligations Fund 396 $ 538,091 $ 538,091 
Total Money Markets $ 538,091 $ 538,091 

U,S. GOVERNMENT OBLIGATIONS 
35,000 US Treasury Bond Aaa $ 34,644 $ 32,375 

4.25% 5115/2039 
168,624 US Treasury TIP Aaa 172,470 166,911 

2% 1115/2014 
225,658 US Treasury TIP Aaa 225,658 229,097 

.875% 4115/2010 
305,840 US Treasury Intl Index(TlP) Aaa 304,405 298,264 

1.625% 1115/2015 
115,153 US Treasury TIP Aaa 118,572 116,128 

2.375% 4115/201 I 
107,375 US Treasury TIP Aaa 112,711 116,701 

2.5% 7115/2016 
377,541 US Treasury TIP Aaa 388,278 376,998 

2% 4/15/2012 
716,843 US Treasury TIP Aaa 708,334 708,926 

.625% 4115/2013 
490,977 US Treasury TIP Aaa 475,943 459,088 

1.375% 7/15/2018 
125,253 US Treasury Intl IX Note (TIP) Aaa 129,363 130,175 

2.125% 1115/2019 
138,000 US Treasury Note Aaa 129,245 127,783 

2.75% 2115/2019 
200,000 US Treasury Note Aaa 193,376 200,367 

2.625% 4/30/2016 
207,000 US Treasury Note Aaa 197,248 205,822 

2.375% 3/3112016 
93,000 US Treasury Note Aaa 93,407 92,970 

3.25% 5/31/2016 
Total U.S. Government Obligations $ 3,283,655 $ 3,261,605 
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AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACEI MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

U.S. GOVERNMENT AGENCY OBLIGATIONS 
465,000 FHLMC Var Rate Mtn Unrated $ 458,166 $ 458,166 

0%12/11/2017 

345,000 FHLMC Var Rate Note 0% Unrated 345,000 343,620 
0% 6/25/2024 

115,000 FFCS Note Aaa 114,425 114,943 
3,6% 5/05/2015 

1,997,000 FHLMC Zero Coupon Note Aaa 498,351 471,092 
9114/2029 

276,000 FNMA Zero Coupon Note Aaa 228,892 232,531 
0% 7/5/2014 

76,000 FNMA Note Aaa 76,451 76,000 
5% 6/25/2024 

224,000 FNMA Note 5,5% Aaa 223,931 225,114 
5.5% 12114/2022 

375,000 FNMA Var Rate Note Unrated 372,609 372,609 
8.45% 2/27/2023 

68,000 FNMA Var Rate Note Aaa 67,086 67,864 
3,73% 12/23/2015 

595,000 FNMA Var Rate Note Unrated 595,000 594,210 
0% 6/24/2024 

230,000 FNMA Var Rate Note Unrated 230,000 228,735 
0% 6/24/2024 

191,000 FICO Strip Unrated 115,318 118,945 
0% 9/26/2019 

1,564 FNMA Pool #250953 Unrated 1,644 1,598 
7% 6/0112012 

3,503 FNMA #252571 Unrated 3,847 3,452 
7% 7/01/2029 

12,483 FNMA Pool #253678 Unrated 13,252 12,903 
6.5% 2/0112016 

4,611 FNMA Pool #491066 Unrated 5,063 4,568 
7% 10/0112028 

4,296 FNMA Pool #512101 Unrated 4,687 4,298 
7.5% 12/0112029 
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FACEI MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

2,013 FNMA Pool #532379 Unrated 2,195 2,059 
8.5% 4/0112030 

90,178 FHLMC CMO #FHR 2583 MC Unrated 91,611 92,433 
5.5% 8115/2029 

61,145 FHLMC CMO #FHR 2796 BA Unrated 61,996 62,521 
5.5% 11115/2029 

10,541 FNMA Pool 686004 Unrated 10,881 10,821 
4.786% 110112033 

12,283 FNMA Pool ARM 754755 Unrated 12,353 12,248 
4.00 I %-4.064% 110112034 

124,578 FNMA Pool #FN896476 Unrated 130,471 125,980 
5.786% 5/0112036 

263,088 FNMA Pool 968528 Unrated 273,077 266,787 
5.215% 110112038 

17,049 GNMA Pool 457874 Unrated 18,403 16,993 
6.5% 2115/2029 

981 GNMA Pool 470162 Unrated 1,077 964 
7.5% 3115/2029 

191 GNMA Pool #494029 DTD 711199 Unrated 210 194 
7.5% 7/15/2029 

19,720 GNMA Mortgage Pool #780472 Unrated 21,431 20,045 
7% 9115/2024 

48,763 GNMA I Pool #GN696467 Unrated 51,782 49,845 
6.5% 8/15/2038 

Total Government Agency Obligations $ 4,029,208 $ 3,991,538 

CORPORATE OBLIGATIONS 
46,925 Burlington Northern Santa Fe Series 06-1 Unrated $ 49,267 $ 47,873 

5.72% 1115/2024 

112,039 Bane of Amer Comm Mtg Ser 2005-2 A3 Aaa 111,315 107,295 
4.611% 7110/2043 

126,018 CSX Transportation Unrated 124,757 126,018 
6.251% 1115/2023 

58,623 CSX Transportation A2 64,600 58,623 
8.375% 10115/2014 
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SCHEDULE A 

CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
EMPLOYEE'S RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACE/ MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

55,000 Comm Mtg Asset Trust I 999-C I C Aaa 52,147 49,844 
7.35% 1117/2032 

50,151 CS First Boston Mtg Sees Corp 200 I-CK6 A3 Aaa 50,417 51,122 
6.387% 8/15/2036 

302,704 Fedex Corp Pass Thru Certs 97-A A3 304,217 314,244 
7.5% 1115/2018 

13,929 First Franklin Mtg Loan Asset Bkd Certs Aa2 13,171 13,651 
.38375% 12/25/2037 

47,000 First Union National Bank Commercial Mortg Aaa 44,497 42,667 
2001-C2 D 6.951% 1/12/2043 

132,000 GE Capital Comm Mtg Corp 2001-2 C Aaa 131,695 132,134 
6.59% 8!l1l2033 

55,608 Greenwich Cap Comm Fdg 2005-GC3 A2 Aaa 54,290 53,700 
4.305% 811 0/2042 

38,000 JP Morgan Chase Comm Mtg. Sec. Ser 2004 Aaa 36,143 31,029 
-CBSX A4 4.529% 1112/2037 

140,000 Merrill Lynch Mortgage Investors CMO 1998· Aa1 125,510 147,963 
6.75% 11115/2026 

51,418 Wachovia Bank Comm MTG Tr 2005-C16 A2 Aaa 51,233 50,227 
4.38% 10115/2041 

58,000 Alcoa Baa3 56,667 57,817 
6% 7115/2013 

59,000 American Express A2 58,585 58,798 
5.875% 5/2/2013 

173,000 BP Capital Markets PLC Aal 185,683 177,277 
5.25% 1 1I07/20 13 

110,000 Bank of NY Mellon Aa2 111,773 II 1,179 
4.3% 5115/2014 

103,000 Bear Stems Aa3 108,561 105,781 
7.25% 2/112018 

85,000 Boeing A2 92,687 84,583 
6% 3115/20 19 

100,000 Bottling Group LLC Aa2 114,058 101,744 
6.95% 3115/2014 
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SCHEDULE A 

CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
EMPLOYEE'S RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACE/ MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

195,000 Caterpillar Financial Services A2 208,724 195,207 
7.15% 2/15/2019 

85,000 Citigroup Inc. A3 81,988 80,081 
5.3% 10117/2012 

38,000 Comerica A2 37,956 32,680 
3.705% 7/27/2010 

55,000 Conoco Inc Callable, Short Coupon Al 59,263 53,884 
6.95% 4115/2029 

105,000 Conoco Funding Company Al 114,595 112,198 
6.35% 10115120 II 

125,000 Consolidated Edison MBIA Insured NY Ser. A3 130,954 135,692 
MBIA 8.125% 5/01/2010 

54,000 Walt Disney 6.375% A2 59,304 58,226 
6.375% 311120 I 0 

49,000 GE Capital Aa2 50,012 49,788 
5.9% 511312014 

73,000 GE Capital GECC Aa2 65,533 66,552 
6.75% 3/15/2032 

61,000 GE Capital Corp Series MTNA Aa2 64,123 63,195 
6% 611512012 

57,000 Goldman Sachs Group Al 59,489 58,449 
6% 5/01/2014 

37,000 Kroger Baa2 41,402 36,929 
7.5% 1115/2014 

50,000 Merrill Lynch A2 46,278 46,976 
6.875% 4/25/2018 

55,000 Midamerican Energy A2 57,047 55,344 
5.3% 3115/2018 

100,000 Morgan Stanley A2 99,739 98,692 
6% 4/28/2015 

50,000 National City Bank A2 51,385 33,000 
6.2% 12/15/2011 

59,000 National City Floating Rate Note A3 58,490 52,879 
2.98875% 6116/2010 

117,000 PECO Energy Corp. Bond A2 119,666 117,710 
5.35% 3/0112018 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
EMPLOYEE'S RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACEI MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE 

71,000 PPG Industries A3 73,803 
5.75% 3115/2013 

88,000 Pacific Gas & Elec A3 92,645 
4.8% 3/0112014 

113,000 Philip Morris Inti A2 127,500 
6.875% 3117/2014 

236,000 Private Export Funding Aaa 235,854 
4.375% 3115/2019 

55,000 SLM Corp Floating Rate Note Bal 36,316 
1.741% 1112112013 

105,000 United Technologies Corp A2 111,198 
5.375% 12/15/2017 

136,000 Verizon Communications A3 161,089 
8.75% 1110112018 
Total Corporate Obligations $ 4,185,627 

MUTUAL FUNDS 
4,975 John Hancock Bank & Thrift 59,800 

Opportunity Fund 
Total Mutual Funds $ 59,800 

COMMON STOCK 
1,200 Autozone Inc. $ 181,332 

7,400 Best Buy Company Inc. 247,826 

13,490 Walt Disney Company 314,722 

1,500 O'Reilly Automotive, Inc. 57,120 

10,400 Petsmart Inc 223,184 

8,600 Sally Beauty Holdings Inc 54,696 

8,200 Starbucks Corp 113,898 
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SCHEDULE A 

COST 

71,253 

85,808 

112,449 

236,680 

33,825 

108,023 

134,492 

$ 4,053,578 

171,902 

$ 171,902 

$ 79,906 

305,924 

310,024 

27,008 

251,601 

66,650 

216,849 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
EMPLOYEE'S RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

WMS Industries Inc 66,171 

Walgreen Co. 343,980 

Avon Products 131,478 

Philip Morris Inti 348,960 

Sysco Corp. 94,416 

United Natural Foods Inc. 55,125 

Atwood Oceanics, Inc. 64,766 

Chevron Corporation 463,750 

Conocophilliips 336,774 

Marathon Oil Corp. 554,392 

Mariner Energy Inc. 27,131 

Superior Energy Services, Inc. 34,540 

Transocean Ltd. 403,172 

Bancfirst Corp. 27,664 

Bank of America 266,614 

Bank of NY Mellon Corp. 172,929 

lP Morgan Chase 347,922 

Lakeland Financial Corp. 38,000 
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SCHEDULE A 

COST 

47,183 

474,901 

166,192 

306,008 

147,357 

66,991 

60,480 

429,993 

545,793 

444,463 

45,138 

26,415 

615,054 

16,012 

574,443 

154,768 

307,595 

23,044 
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SHARES 

1,400 

2,762 

6,100 

1,800 

3,900 

1,500 

5,400 

4,500 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
EMPLOYEE'S RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

Navigators Group Inc. 62,202 

Southwest Bancorp, Inc. 26,957 

Virginia Commerce Bancorp Inc. 14,030 

Whitney Holding Corp. 16,488 

Cephalon Inc. 220,935 

Charles River Laboratories,lntl. 50,625 

Davita Inc. 267,084 

Eclipsys Corp. 80,010 

Intuitive Surgical, Inc. 180,026 

Merit Medical Systems, Inc. 64,646 

Parexel International Corp. 58,958 

Pfizer Inc. 69,300 

Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. 25,830 

Quest Diagnostics 378,081 

Schering-Plough Corporation 248,688 

Steris Corp. 39,120 

Zimmer Holdings, Inc. 183,180 

Covidien PLC 172,224 
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SCHEDULE A 

COST 

68,654 

28,117 

31,799 

39,294 

217,352 

61,321 

278,610 

45,563 

151,123 

47,696 

35,567 

129,435 

45, 101 

354,904 

285,887 

33,173 

290,905 

180,733 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
EMPLOYEE'S RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

Dover Corp. 168,759 

Emcor Group, Inc. 70,420 

Emerson Electric Co. 103,680 

Fedex Corp. 133,488 

Fortune Brands Inc. 100,746 

Forward Air Corp. 57,564 

General Electric Co. 247,292 

Harmonic Inc. 55,366 

Honeywell International Inc. 182,120 

Layne Christensen Company 51,125 

Norfolk Southern Corp. 222,253 

Semtech Corp. 62,049 

TTM Technologies Inc. 49,352 

3M Company 354,590 

Toro Company 32,890 

Tyco IntI. 194,850 

Benchmark Electronics Inc. 48,960 

Cisco Systems 484,900 
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COST 

201,063 

40,309 

113,743 

138,589 

127,592 

47,234 

291,395 

90,205 

158,628 

80,489 

242,476 

70,700 

62,012 

420,739 

27,71 I 

297,773 

73,164 

528,644 
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EMPLOYEE'S RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

Daktronics Inc. 20,020 

Dell Inc. 311,671 

Google Inc. 358,352 

Intel 382,305 

Itron Inc. 60,577 

Microsoft Corp. 254,339 

Polycom Inc 330,401 

Texas Instruments Inc. 178,920 

3Com Corp. 86,559 

Alcoa Inc. 104,333 

Sun Hydraulics Corp. 50,936 

Zoltek Cos Inc. 45,684 

AT&T 264,273 

Public Service Enterprise Group 430,716 

Total Common Stock $ 12,628,434 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS $ 24,724,814 
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SCHEDULE A 

COST 

32,757 

631,643 

364,645 

523,726 

64,449 

189,123 

380,849 

207,942 

70,609 

320,918 

46,404 

26,062 

312,845 

467,158 

$ 14,686,621 

$ 26,703,336 



SCHEDULE B 
CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
FIREMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACEI MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

MONEY MARKETS 

565,278 Federated Prime Obligations Fund 396 $ 565,278 $ 565,278 
Total Money Markets $ 565,278 $ 565,278 

U.S. GOVERNMENT OBLIGATIONS 
12,000 US Treasury Bond Aaa $ 11,878 $ 11,100 

4.25% 5/15/2039 
54,689 US Treasury TIP Aaa 55,936 54,133 

2% 1115/2014 
77,081 US Treasury TIP Aaa 77,081 78,255 

.875% 4115/2010 
102,321 US Treasury Inft Index (TIP) Aaa 101,841 99,930 

1.625% 1115/2015 
37,318 US Treasury TIP Aaa 38,426 37,634 

2.375% 4/15/2011 
36,146 US Treasury TIP Aaa 37,942 39,286 

2.5% 7/15/2016 
116,808 US Treasury TIP Aaa 120,130 116,610 

2% 4/15/2012 
246,898 US Treasury TIP Aaa 243,968 243,820 

.625% 4/15/2013 
146,395 US Treasury TIP Aaa 141,913 137,178 

1.375% 7115/2018 
41,423 US Treasury Infl IX Note (TIP) Aaa 42,782 43,042 

2.125% 1115/2019 
48,000 US Treasury Note Aaa 44,955 44,446 

2.75% 2/15/2019 
71,000 US Treasury Note Aaa 68,648 71,137 

2.625% 4/30/2016 
71,000 US Treasury Note Aaa 67,655 70,597 

2.375% 3/3112016 
32,000 US Treasury Note Aaa 32,140 31,991 

3.25% 5/3112016 
Total U.S. Government Obligations $ 1,085,296 $ 1,079,159 
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SCHEDULEB 
CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
FIREMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACEI MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

U.S. GOVERl~MENT AGENCY OBLIGATIONS 
310,000 FHLMC Var Rate Mtn Unrated $ 308,506 $ 308,506 

0% 12/11/2017 
40,000 FHLMC Note 5.21% Aaa 40,225 40,000 

5.21% 6/04/2018 
100,000 FHLMC Var Rate Note 0% Unrated 100,000 99,600 

0% 6/25/2024 
40,000 FFCB Note Aaa 39,800 39,980 

3.6% 5/05/2015 
314,000 FHLMC Zero Coupon Note Aaa 78,359 74,073 

0% 9114/2029 
95,000 FNMA Zero Coupon Note Aaa 78,785 80,036 

0% 7/5/2014 
26,000 FNMANote Aaa 26,154 26,000 

5% 6/25/2024 
77,000 FNMANote Aaa 76,976 78,950 

5.5% 12/14/2022 
100,000 FNMA Var Rate Note Unrated 99,363 99,363 

8.45% 2/27/2023 
22,000 FNMA Var Rate Note Aaa 21,704 21,956 

3.73% 12/23/2015 
100,000 FNMA Var Rate Note Unrated 100,000 99,800 

0% 6/24/2024 
125,000 FNMA Var Rate Note Unrated 125.000 124,313 

0% 6/24/2024 
66,000 FICO Strip Unrated 39,848 41,102 

0% 9/2612019 
536 FGLMC Pool #C35867 Unrated 589 549 

8.5% 1I112030 
1,135 FNMA 252571 Unrated 1,247 1,119 

7% 7/0112029 
2,714 FNMA Pool #253678 Unrated 2,881 2,805 

6.5% 2/01/2016 
451 FNMA Pool #491066 Unrated 496 459 

7% 1010112028 
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FIREMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACE! MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

1,631 FNMA Pool #512101 Umated 1,780 1,632 
7.5% 12/0112029 

662 FNMA Pool #536911 Umated 721 677 
8.5% 4/0112030 

27,606 FHLMC CMO #FHR 2583 MC Umated 28,044 28,296 
5.5% 8/15/2029 

20,020 FHLMC CMO #FHR 2796 BA Umated 20,298 20,470 
5.5% 11115/2029 

2,292 FNMA Pool 686004 Umated 2,365 2,352 
4.786% 110112033 

12,539 FNMA Pool #ARM754755 Umated 12,611 12,503 
4.001%-4.064% 1101/2034 

38,282 FNMA Pool #FN896476 Umated 40,093 38,713 
5.786% 5/0112036 

81,710 FNMA Pool 968528 Umated 84,812 82,859 
5.215% 110112038 

4,447 GNMA Pool 457874 Umated 4,801 4,433 
6.5% 2115/2029 

180 GNMA Poo1470162 Umated 198 177 
7.5% 3115/2029 

3,659 GNMA Mortgage Pool #780472 Umated 3,976 3,721 
7% 9115/2024 
Total U.S. Government Agency Obligations $ 1,339,633 $ 1,334,442 

CORPORATE OBLIGATIONS 
4,803 First Franklin Mtg Loan Asset Bkd Certs Aa2 $ 4,542 $ 4,707 

.38375% 12/25/2037 
15,000 First Union National Bank Commercial M( Aaa 14,201 13,617 

2001-C2 D 6.951% 1112/2043 
41,000 GE Capital Comm Mtg Corp 2001-2C Aaa 40,905 41,042 

6.59% 8/1112033 
78 Greenwich Cap Comm Fdg 2005-GC3 A2 Aaa 76 75 

4.305% 811 0/2042 
12.000 lP Morgan Chase Comm Mtg. Sec. Ser. 20 Aaa 11,414 9,799 

4.529% 1112/2037 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
FIREMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACEI MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

40,000 lP Morgan Chase Comm Mtg See Corp 201 Aaa 33,951 34,190 
6.06526% 4/15/2045 

15,879 Wachovia Bank Comm Mtg TR 2005-C16 Aaa 15,822 15,511 
4.38% 10115/2041 

10,949 Burlington Northern Santa Fe Series 06-1 Unrated 11,496 11,170 
5.72% 1115/2024 

36,389 Bane of Amer Comm Mtg Ser 2005-2 A3 Aaa 36,154 34,848 
4.611% 7/10/2043 

33,430 CSX Transportation Unrated 33,095 32,268 
6.251% 1115/2023 

19,221 CSX Transportation A2 21,180 19,221 
8.375% 10/15/2014 

18,000 Comm Mtg Asset Trust 1999-CI C Aaa 17,066 16,313 
7.35% 1117/2032 

15,734 CS First Boston Mtg Sees Corp 2001-CK6 Aaa 15,817 16,038 
6.387% 8115/2036 

123,528 Fedex Corp Pass Thru Certs 97-A A3 124,145 129,876 
7.5% 1115/2018 

19,000 Alcoa Baa3 18,563 18,940 
6% 7/15/2013 

67,000 BP Capital Markets PLC Aal 71,912 69,018 
5.25% 11107/2013 

26,000 Bank of NY Mellon Aa2 26,419 26,279 
4.3% 5115/2014 

35,000 Bear Sterns Aa3 36,890 35,945 
7.25% 21112018 

33,000 Bottling Group LLC Aa2 37,639 33,576 
6.95% 3115/2014 

23,000 Burlington Northern Santa Fe Corp Baal 23,475 23,085 
5.65% 5/0112017 

62,000 Caterpillar Financial Services A2 66,364 62,118 
7.15% 2/15/2019 

30,000 Citigroup Inc. A3 28,937 28,264 
5.3% 10117/2015 
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FACEI MARKET 
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41,000 Comerica Bank Floating Rate Note Al 39,832 37,105 
.48625% 5110/2010 

19,000 Conoco Inc Callable, Short Coupon Al 20,473 18,471 
6.95% 4115/2029 

27,000 Consolidated Edison MBIA Insured NY Se A3 28,286 29,846 
8.125% 5101/2010 

26,000 Consolidated Edison A3 29,536 29,445 
7.125% 12/1/2018 

52,000 John Deere Capital Corp A2 57,104 56,549 
7% 3115/2012 

14,000 Diageo PLC A3 15,840 14,275 
7.375% 1115/2014 

17,000 Walt Disney A2 18,670 18,330 
6.375% 3/112012 

40,000 GE Capital Aa2 40,826 39,956 
5.9% 5113/2014 

25,000 GE Capital GECC Aa2 22,443 22,792 
6.75% 3/15/2032 

21,000 GE Capital Corp. Series MTNA Aa2 22,075 21,756 
6% 6/15/2012 

19,000 Goldman Sachs Group Al 19,830 19,483 
6% 510112014 

12,000 Kroger Baa2 13,428 11,977 
7.5% 1115/2014 

15,000 National City Bank A2 15,416 9,900 
6.2% 12/15/2011 

19,000 National City Floating Rate Note A3 18,836 17,029 
2.98875% 6116/2010 

36,000 PECO Energy Corp. Bond A2 36,820 36,218 
5.35% 3/0112018 

22,000 PPG Industries A3 22,869 22,079 
5.75% 3/15/2013 

35,000 Pacific Gas & Elec A3 36,847 35,088 
4.8% 3/0112014 

35,000 Philip Morris Inti A2 39,491 34,829 
6.875% 3/17/2014 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
FIREMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACE/ 
SHARES 

MARKET 

77,000 

18,000 

44,000 

DESCRIPTION 

Private Export Funding 
4.375% 3115/2019 
SLM Corp Floating Rate Note 
1.741 % 1112112013 
Verizon Communications 
8.75% 1110112018 
Total Corporate Obligations 

MUTUAL FUNDS 
2,525 John Hancock Bank & Thrift 

Opportunity Fund 
Total Mutual Funds 

COMMON STOCK 
500 Autozone Inc. 

1,300 Best Buy Company Inc. 

5,150 Walt Disney Company 

500 O'Reilly Automotive, Inc. 

3,400 Petsmart Inc. 

2,400 Sally Beauty Holdings Inc. 

3,100 Starbucks Corp. 

600 WMS Industries Inc. 

3,800 Walgreen Co. 

2,000 A von Products 

3,100 Philip Morris Inti. 

VALUE 

Aaa 76,952 

Bal 11,885 

A3 52,117 

$ 1,329,639 

$ 30,351 

$ 30,351 

$ 75,555 

43,537 

120,150 

19,040 

72,964 

15,264 

43,059 

18,906 

111,720 

51,560 

135,222 
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SCHEDULEB 

COST 

77,226 

1l,070 

43,509 

$ 1,282,832 

$ 68,850 

$ 68,850 

$ 50,060 

54,956 

111,216 

10,231 

85,230 

18,646 

81,322 

13,346 

155,119 

70,721 

120,540 
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MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

Sysco Corp, 58,448 

United Natural Foods Inc, 18,375 

Atwood Oceanics, Inc. 21,174 

Chevron Corporation 172,250 

Conocophilliips 139,177 

Marathon Oil Corp. 180,780 

Mariner Energy Inc. 7,320 

Superior Energy Services, Inc. 10,362 

Transocean Ltd. 161,581 

Bancfirst Corp. 6,916 

Bank of America 150,546 

Bank of NY Mellon Corp. 58,620 

JP Morgan Chase 109,152 

Lakeland Financial Corp. 11,400 

Navigators Group Inc. 17,772 

Southwest Bancorp, Inc. 7,808 

Virginia Commerce Bancorp Inc. 3,910 

Whitney Holding Corp. 6,870 
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SCHEDULEB 

COST 

72,002 

22,330 

19,855 

157,711 

206,672 

202,110 

11,160 

9,339 

207,160 

4,003 

217,741 

47,483 

96,500 

8,472 

19,801 

10,570 

8,862 

13,207 
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AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

Cephalon Inc. 107,635 

Charles River Laboratories Inti, Inc. 13,500 

Davita Inc. 59,352 

Eclipsys Corp. 23,114 

Intuitive Surgical, Inc. 49,098 

Merit Medical Systems, Inc. 18,468 

Parexel International Corp. 17,256 

Pfizer Inc. 18,900 

Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. 7,380 

Quest Diagnostics 129,789 

Schering-Plough Corporation 77,872 

Steris Corp. 13,040 

Zimmer Holdings, Inc. 59,640 

Covidien Ltd. 73,944 

Dover Corp. 72,798 

Emcor Group, Inc. 20,120 

Emerson Electric Co. 51,840 

Fedex Corp. 44,496 

Fortune Brands Inc. 34,740 
(82) 

SCHEDULEB 

COST 

126,383 

16,098 

64,113 

13,163 

41,215 

13,124 

10,734 

35,926 

12,808 

118,944 

89,832 

11,755 

100,864 

77,362 

81,851 

12,827 

56,002 

57,988 

73,206 



FACE/ 
SHARES 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
FIREMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

Forward Air Corp. 17,056 

General Electric Co. 94,932 

Harmonic Inc. 15,903 

Honeywell International Inc. 59,660 

Layne Christensen Company 14,315 

Norfolk Southern Corp. 60,272 

Semtech Corp. 17,501 

TTM Technologies, Inc. 14,328 

3M Company 114,190 

Toro Company 8,970 

Tyco IntI. 64,301 

Benchmark Electronics Inc. 14,400 

Cisco Systems 138,010 

Daktronics Inc. 6,160 

Dell Inc. 82,380 

Google [nco 147,557 

Intel 147,295 

Itron Inc. 16,521 

(83) 

SCHEDULEB 

COST 

16,063 

127,574 

26,131 

66,254 

23,991 

73,079 

19,447 

17,946 

141,004 

10,201 

100,607 

21,874 

155,305 

8,963 

156,705 

146,151 

175,745 

17,450 



FACE! 
SHARES 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
FIREMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

Microsoft Corp. 125,981 

Polycom Inc. 83,107 

Texas Instruments Inc. 83,070 

3Com Corp. 25,542 

Alcoa Inc. 34,089 

Sun Hydraulics Corp. 14,553 

Zoltek Cos Inc. 13,608 

AT&T 106,837 

Public Service Enterprise Group 169,676 

Total Common Stock $ 4,432,631 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS $ 8,782,829 

(84) 

SCHEDULE B 

COST 

96,127 

95,734 

96,560 

20,464 

108,640 

13,258 

7,763 

127,194 

177,837 

$ 5,168,628 

$ 9,499,189 



SCHEDULEC 
CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
POLICEMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACEI MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

MONEY MARKETS 

490,887 Federated Prime Obligations Fund 396 $ 490,887 $ 490,887 
Total Money Markets $ 490,887 $ 490,887 

U.S. GOVERl~MENT OBLIGATIONS 
12,000 US Treasury Bond Aaa $ 11,878 $ 11,100 

4.25% 5/15/2039 
55,828 US Treasury TIP Aaa 57,102 55,261 

2% 1115/2014 
75,964 US Treasury TIP Aaa 75,964 77,111 

.875% 4115/2010 
101,197 US Treasury Intl Index (TIP) Aaa 100,722 98,777 

1.625% 1I1S12015 
38,384 lJS Treasury TIP Aaa 39,524 38,709 

2.375% 411S12011 
36,146 US Treasury TIP Aaa 37,942 39,286 

2.5% 7/15/2016 
117,851 US Treasury TIP Aaa 121,203 117,634 

2% 4/15/2012 
251,810 US Treasury Tip Aaa 248,821 248,580 

.625% 4115/2013 
142,464 US Treasury TIP Aaa 138,101 133,541 

1.375% 7/15/2018 
42,409 US Treasury Intl IX Note (TIP) Aaa 43,801 44,061 

2.125% II1S/2019 
48,000 US Treasury Note Aaa 44,955 44,446 

2.75% 2115/2019 
71,000 US Treasury Note Aaa 68,648 71,137 

2.625% 4/30/2016 
72,000 US Treasury Note Aaa 68,608 71,586 

2.375% 3/31/2016 
33,000 US Treasury Note Aaa 33,145 32,988 

3.2S% 5/3112016 
Total U.S. Government Obligations $ 1,090,414 $ 1,084,217 

(85) 



FACE/ 
SHARES 

CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
POLICEMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

U.S. GOVERNMENT AGENCY OBLIGATIONS 
260,000 FHLMC Var Rate Mtn Unrated $ 258,946 

0% 12/11/2017 
40,000 FHLMCNote Aaa 40,225 

5.21 % 6/04/2018 
125,000 FHLMC Var Rate Note Unrated 125,000 

0% 6/25/2024 
40,000 FFCB Note Aaa 39,800 

3.6% 5/05/2015 
272,000 FHLMC Zero Coupon Note Aaa 67,878 

0% 9114/2029 
97,000 FNMA Zero Coupon Note Aaa 80,444 

0% 7/5/2014 
27,000 FNMANote Aaa 27,160 

5% 6/25/2024 
79,000 FNMANote Aaa 78,976 

5.5% 12/14/2022 
225,000 FNMA Var Rate Note Unrated 223,566 

8.45% 2/27/2023 
23,000 FNMA Var Rate Note Aaa 22,691 

3.373% 12/23/2015 
105,000 FNMA Var Rate Note Unrated 105,000 

0% 6/24/2024 
67,000 FICO Strip Unrated 40,452 

0% 9/26/2019 
409 FNMA Pool #250953 Unrated 430 

7% 6/112012 
811 FNMA 252571 Unrated 890 

7% 7/0112029 
2,035 FNMA Pool #253678 Unrated 2,161 

6.5% 2/0112016 
322 FNMA Pool #491066 Unrated 354 

7% 10/0112028 
924 FNMA Pool #512101 Unrated 1,009 

7.5% 12/0112029 

(86) 

SCHEDULEC 

COST 

$ 258,946 

40,000 

124,500 

39,980 

64,165 

81,722 

27,000 

81,000 

223,566 

22,954 

104,790 

41,724 

417 

799 

2,104 

328 

925 



SCHEDULEC 
CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
POLICEMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACEI MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

28,526 FHLMC CMO #FHR 2583 MC Unrated 28,979 29,239 
5.5% 8/15/2029 

20,623 FHLMC CMO #FHR 2796 BA Unrated 20,910 21,087 
5.5% 11115/2029 

538 FNMA Poo1683611 Unrated 550 551 
4.428% 11112033 

11,600 FNMA Pool #ARM754755 Unrated 11,667 11,568 
4 .. 001%-4.064% 1101/2034 

38,282 FNMA Pool #FN896476 Unrated 40,093 38,713 
5.786% 510112036 

81,710 FNMA Pool 968528 Unrated 84,812 82,859 
5.215% 110112038 

2,965 GNMA Pool 457874 Unrated 3,200 2,955 
6.5% 2115/2029 

120 GNMA Pool 470162 Unrated 132 118 
7.5% 3/15/2029 

2,278 GNMA 15 Yr Pool 483902 Unrated 2,434 2,307 
6.5% 8115/2013 

2,741 GNMA MORTGAGE POOL #780472 Unrated 2,978 2,787 
7% 9115/2024 
Total U.S. Government Agency Obligations $ 1,310,737 $ 1,307,102 

CORPORATE OBLIGATIONS 
4,963 First Franklin Mtg Loan Asset BKD Cert Aa2 $ 4,693 $ 4,864 

.38375% 12/25/2037 
15,000 First Union National Bank Commercial MOl Aaa 14,201 13,617 

6.951 % 1112/2043 
41,000 GE Capital Comm Mtg Corp 2001-2 C Aaa 40,905 41,042 

6.59% 8/1112033 
80 Greenwich Cap Comm fdg 2005-GG3 A2 Aaa 78 77 

4.305% Sil0/2042 
12,000 lP Morgran Chase Comm Mtg. Sec. Ser. 20 Aaa 11,414 9,799 

4.529% 1112/2037 
40,000 JP Morgan Chase Comm Mtg Sec Corp 200 Aaa 33,951 34,190 

6.06526% 4/15/2045 

(87) 



SCHEDULEC 
CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
POLICEMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACE! MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

16,635 Wachovia Bank Comm Mtg TR 2005-C16 j Aaa 16,576 16,250 
4.38% 10/15/2041 

10,167 Burlington Northern Santa Fe Series 06-1 Unrated 10,675 10,372 
5.72% 1115/2024 

37,346 Banc of Amer Comm Mtg Ser 2005-2 A3 Aaa 37,105 35,765 
4.611% 7/10/2043 

34,429 CSX Transportation Unrated 34,085 33,207 
6.251 % 1115/2023 

19,221 CSX Transportation A2 21,180 19,221 
8.375% 10115/2014 

18,000 Comm MTG Asset Trust 1999-C 1 C Aaa 17,066 16,313 
7.35% 1117/2032 

15,734 CS First Boston MTG Secs Corp 2001-CK6 Aaa 15,817 16,038 
6.387% 8/15/2036 

97,596 Fedex Corp Pass Thru CERTS 97-A A3 98,084 100,733 
7.5% 1115/2018 

19,000 Alcoa Baa3 18,563 18,940 
6% 7/15/2013 

37,000 BP Capital Markets PLC Aal 39,712 36,976 
5.25% 11107/2013 

21,000 Bank of NY Mellon Aa2 21,339 21,225 
4.3% 5115/2014 

36,000 Bear Sterns Aa3 37,944 36,972 
7.25% 2/112018 

33,000 Bottling Group LLC Aa2 37,639 33,576 
6.95% 3i15/2014 

22,000 Burlington Northern Santa Fe Corp Baal 22,454 22,081 
5.65% 5/0112017 

63,000 Caterpillar Financial Services A2 67,434 63,116 
7.15% 2115/2019 

30,000 Citigroup Inc. A3 28,937 28,264 
5.3% 10/17/2012 

19,000 Conoco Inc Callable, Short Coupon Al 20,473 18,614 
6.95% 4/15/2029 

34,000 Conoco Funding Co. Al 37,107 36,331 
6.35% 10/15/2011 

(88) 



SCHEDULEC 
CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
POLICEMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACE/ MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

40,000 Consolidated Edison MBIA Insured NY Sel A3 41,905 44,217 
8,125% 5/0112010 

52,000 John Deere Capital Corp. A2 57,104 56,549 
7% 3i15/2012 

14,000 Diageo PLC A3 15,840 14,275 
7.375% 1115/2014 

18,000 Walt Disney A2 19,768 19,409 
6.375% 3/112012 

41,000 GE Capital Aa2 41,847 40,954 
5.9% 5/13/2014 

25,000 GE Capital GECC Aa2 22,443 22,792 
6.75% 3/15/2032 

21,000 GE Capital Corp Series MTNA Aa2 22,075 21,756 
6% 6115/2012 

19,000 Goldman Sachs Group Al 19,830 19,483 
6% 5/0112014 

12,000 Kroger Baa2 13,428 11,977 
7.5% 1115/2014 

48,000 Merrill Lynch A3 42,979 41,208 
6.05% 5116/2016 

15,000 National City Bank A2 15,416 9,900 
6.2% 12115/2011 

19,000 National City Floating Rate Note A3 18,836 17,029 
2.98875% 6116/2010 

36,000 PECO Energy Corp. Bond A2 36,820 36,218 
5.35% 3/0112018 

60,000 PNC Funding Corp. Baal 60,824 60,930 
7.5% 1110112009 

22,000 PPG Industries A3 22,869 22,079 
5.75% 3/15/2013 

34,000 Pacific Gas & Elec A3 35,795 34,086 
4.8% 3/0112014 

36,000 Philip Morris IntI A2 40,620 35,824 
6.875% 3/17/2014 

(89) 



CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
POLICEMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACE! 
SHARES DESCRIPTION 

79,000 Private Export Funding 
4.375% 3115/2019 

18,000 SLM Corp Floating Rate Note 
1,741% 1112112013 

34,000 United Technologies Corp 
5.375% 12/15/2017 

44,000 Verizon Communications 
8.75% 1110112018 
Total Corporate Obligations 

MUTUAL FUNDS 
2,500 John Hancock Bank & Thrift 

Opportunity Fund 
Total Mutual Funds 

COMMON STOCK 
500 Autozone Inc 

2,500 Best Buy Company, Inc. 

5,350 Walt Disney Company 

350 O'Reilly Automotive, Inc. 

3,500 Petsmart Inc. 

2,200 Sally Beauty Holdings Inc. 

3,000 Starbucks Corp 

500 WMS Industries Inc. 

4,000 Walgreen Co. 

1,900 A von Products 

MARKET 
VALUE 

Aaa 78,951 

Bal 11,885 

A2 36,007 

A3 52,117 

$ 1,394,791 

$ 30,050 

$ 30,050 

$ 75,555 

83,725 

124,816 

13,328 

75,110 

13,992 

41,670 

15,755 

117,600 

48,982 

(90) 

SCHEDULEC 

COST 

79,241 

11,070 

34,979 

43,509 

$ 1,345,067 

$ 75,577 

$ 75,577 

$ 53,230 

104,871 

112,846 

7,800 

86,218 

17,029 

78,772 

11,036 

160,762 

67,158 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
POLICEMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

Philip Morris IntI 139,584 

Sysco Corp. 58,448 

United Natural Foods Inc. 13,125 

Atwood Oceanics, Inc. 16,192 

Chevron Corporation 178,875 

Conocophilliips 177,031 

Marathon Oil Corp. 189,819 

Mariner Energy Inc. 6,956 

Superior Energy Services, Inc. 8,635 

Transocean Ltd. 180,376 

Bancfirst Corp. 6,916 

Bank of America 154,612 

Bank of NY Mellon Corp. 79,137 

jp Morgan Chase 143,262 

Lakeland Financial Corp. 9,500 

Navigators Group Inc. 13,329 

Southwest Bancorp, Inc. 6,832 

Virginia Commerce Bancorp Inc. 3,450 

(91) 

SCHEDULEC 

COST 

124,757 

72,949 

15,950 

14,249 

168,962 

254,667 

204,532 

10,958 

8,691 

234,165 

7,010 

229,147 

64,102 

126,657 

7,465 

14,781 

9,767 

7,819 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
POLICEMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

"Wbitney Holding Corp. 4,809 

Cephalon Inc. 107,635 

Charles River Laboratories Inti, Inc. 13,500 

Davita Inc. 59,352 

Eclipsys Corp. 17,780 

Intuitive Surgical, Inc. 49,098 

Merit Medical Systems, Inc. 15,583 

Parexel International Corp. 12,942 

Pfizer Inc. 25,200 

Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. 6,150 

Quest Diagnostics 158,004 

Schering-P1ough Corporation 80,384 

Steris Corp. 10,432 

Zimmer Holdings, Inc. 59,640 

Covidien Ltd. 73,944 

Dover Corp. 72,798 

Emcor Group, Inc. 16,096 

Emerson Electric Co. 71,280 

(92) 

SCHEDULEC 

COST 

13,698 

126,757 

16,929 

63,349 

10,125 

41,215 

11,552 

9,718 

46,459 

10,868 

144,761 

92,513 

9.311 

100,864 

77,398 

86,887 

9,150 

72,281 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
POLICEMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

Fedex Corp. 44,496 

Fortune Brands Inc. 41,688 

Forward Air Corp. 12,792 

General Electric Co. 97,276 

Harmonic Inc. 12,958 

Honeywell International Inc. 65,940 

Layne Christensen Company 12,270 

Norfolk Southern Corp. 79,107 

Semtech Corp. 14,319 

TTM Technologies, Inc. 12,736 

3M Company 120,200 

Toro Company 5,980 

Tyco IntI. 66,899 

Benchmark Electronics Inc 11,520 

Cisco Systems 167,850 

Daktronics Inc. 5,390 

Dell Inc. 105,721 

Google Inc. 126,477 

(93) 

SCHEDULEC 

COST 

60,759 

85,273 

12,811 

136,652 

21,380 

74,630 

20,762 

95,917 

15,744 

15,739 

146,678 

5,827 

104,561 

16,942 

190,113 

7,717 

198,993 

140,918 
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SHARES 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
POLICEMEN'S PENSION AND RELIEF FUND 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

MARKET 
DESCRIPTION VALUE 

Intel 152,260 

!tron Inc. 13,768 

Microsoft Corp. 144,997 

Polycom Inc. 111,485 

Texas Instruments Inc. 110,760 

3ComCorp. 21,285 

Alcoa Inc. 35,122 

Sun Hydraulics Corp. 14,553 

Zoltek Cos Inc. 10,692 

AT&T 110,041 

Public Service Enterprise Group 172,939 

Total Common Stock $ 4,752,757 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS $ 9,069,635 

(94) 

SCHEDULEC 

COST 

177,992 

14,635 

113,937 

128,267 

128,169 

16,781 

111,828 

13,258 

6,100 

132,808 

188,437 

$ 5,603,815 

$ 9,906,666 



SCHEDULED 
CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
WATER POLLUTION CONTROL DIVISION 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACE/ MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

MONEY MARKETS 

138,732 United Bank Inc. Liquid Asset Fund $ 138,732 $ 138,732 
Total Money Markets $ 138,732 $ 138,732 

U.S. GOVERNMENT AGENCY OBLIGATIONS 

35,000 FHLB Callable 7/28/10 6% 7/28116 Unrated $ 36,761 $ 35,002 
Total US Government Obligations $ 36,761 $ 35,002 

CORPORATE OBLIGATIONS 
50,000 AT&T Bond 5.5% 2/1/18 Unrated $ 49,927 $ 48,853 
25,000 General Electric GE 4% 2115112 Unrated 24,903 25,001 
121,000 Transamerica FINL 0% Callable 3/6198-9/1112 Unrated 90,628 45,190 
20,000 XTRA Finance Corp 5.15% 4/1117 Unrated 19,740 19,853 

Total Corporate Obligations $ 185,197 $ 138,897 

COMMON STOCK 
300 AT&T $ 7,452 $ 7,630 
175 Abbott Laboratories 8,232 7,991 
110 Apple Inc 15,667 18,113 
700 Bank of America Corp 9,240 30,500 
200 Cheveron 13,250 12,943 
100 CHUBB 7,976 8,170 
225 Coca-Cola Co 10,798 8,867 
200 Cullen Frost Bankers Inc 9,224 9,207 
885 Dow Chemical Company 14,284 24,426 
400 Exxon Mobile Corp 27,964 2,606 

2,400 General Electric Company 28,128 22,801 
20 Google Inc 8,432 8,709 

275 HJ Heinz Company 9,818 8,923 
600 Home Depot Inc 14,178 24,598 
600 Intel Copr 9,930 16,538 
300 INBM International Business 31,326 8,576 
600 ISHARES MSCI Emerging MKT 19,338 16,076 

1,150 ISH ARES EAFE ETF 52,682 49,360 
200 ISHARES OJ US Technology Sec 8,898 9,871 
500 Johnson & Johnson 28,400 28,737 
200 Mcdonalds Corp 11,498 10,240 
700 Medtronic Inc 24,423 11,896 
200 Midcap 400 Index Depositary Receipts 21,040 23,849 

1,100 Oracle Corp 23,562 5,050 
650 Pepsico Inc 35,724 14,503 
400 Proctor & Gamble Co 20,440 7,174 
450 3M Companies 27,045 15,113 

Total Common Stock $ 498,948 $ 412,464 

(95) 



SCHEDULED 
CITY OF WHEELING 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
WATER POLLUTION CONTROL DIVISION 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2009 

FACEI MARKET 
SHARES DESCRIPTION VALUE COST 

PREFERRED STOCK 
400 BB&T Capital Trust V Callable 9115113 @ 25 10,180 10,001 
800 Citigroup Capital XVI 13,600 20,002 
800 Credit Suisse Guernsey 17,952 20,002 
800 JP Morgan Chase PFD 20,352 20,000 
400 Wells Fargo Capital XI! 9,584 10,000 

Total Preferred Stock $ 71,668 $ 80,004 

MUTUAL FUNDS 
2,867 The Arbitrage Fund Institutional Class 36,863 35,000 
2,537 Calamos Convertible Fund Class I 38,968 36,000 
500 ISHARES Barclays Tips Bonds Fund 50,820 50,964 

8,984 PIMCO Total Return Fund 93,884 95,000 
10,716 PIMCO All Asset Fund Inst SHS 116,380 134,000 
9,390 T Rowe Price High Yield Fund Investor Class 52,770 60,000 
2,604 TCW Select Equities CL I Total Return Bond 24,790 24,998 
3,915 Alpha Hedged Stratefies Fund 37,740 35,000 
1,604 Artio International Equity Fund 40,021 35,000 
1,967 Baron Growth & Income Fund 67,699 58,000 
14,769 Federated Strategic Value Fund 51,692 48,000 
3,117 Gateway Fund Class Y 73,777 72,000 
3,381 American Funds Growth Fund of American Class F-2 77,705 68,000 
1,227 Harbour Internaltional Fund 52,962 45,000 
2,584 Harding Loevner EMG MKTS 87,057 73,000 
6,184 Manning and Napier World Opportunities Fund 40,318 35,000 
3,567 Vaughan Nelson Small Cap Value Fun Class Y 64,528 58,000 
6,659 Royce Micro Cap Inv CL Fund 72,250 58,000 
7,305 Royce Total Retunf Fund 65,013 58,000 
1,287 Vanguard 500 Index Fund Signal Class 90,052 90,000 

Total Mutual Funds $ 1,235,290 $ 1,168,963 

COMMON COLLECTIVE TRUSTS 
600 Van Kampen Ardour Global Alternative Energy Trust 2,928 5,105 

Total Common Collective Trusts $ 2,928 $ 5,105 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS $ 2,169,523 $ 1,979,167 

(96) 



CITY OF WHEELING 
DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION TRUSTS -

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

I. SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS 

Employee's Pension and Relief Fnnd 

Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial (Overfunded) 
Valuation Value of Accrued Unfunded Funded 

Date Assets Liabilit;t (UAAL} Ratio 
07/01108 $28,604,192 $24,912,048 $(3,692,144) 114% 
07/01/07 30,358,872 23,416,503 (6,942,369) 130% 
07/01/06 27,481,744 22,225,332 (5,256,412) 124% 
07/01105 26,887,485 21,698,853 (5,188,632) 124% 
07/01104 24,927,708 19,795,143 (5,132,565) 126% 
07/01/03 23,514,410 18,767,964 (4,746,446) 125% 

Firemen's Pension and Relief Fund 

Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial (Overfunded) 
Valuation Value of Accrued Unfunded Funded 

Date Assets Liabili!:t (UAAL} Ratio 
07/01108 $9,269,154 $38,829,931 $29,560,777 23% 
07/01107 9,218,296 37,879,854 28,661,558 24% 
07/01106 7,573,099 36,656,298 29,083,199 21% 
07/01105 6,479,983 34,816,870 28,336,887 19% 
07/01104 5,364,565 33,232,735 27,868,170 16% 
07/01/03 4,503,762 33,318,428 28,814,666 14% 

Policemen's Pension and Relief Fund 

Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial (Overfunded) 
Valuation Value of Accrued Unfunded Funded 

Date Assets Liability (UAAL} Ratio 
07/01/08 $9,297,957 $32,719,730 $23,421,773 28% 
07/01/07 9,096,217 30,389,818 21,293,601 30% 
07/01106 7,226,205 29,454,096 22,227,891 25% 
07/01105 5,914,417 28,665,512 22,751,095 21% 
07/0li04 4,674,099 27,504,604 22,830,505 17% 
07!OllO3 3,624,086 26,841,532 23,217,446 14% 
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UAAL as 
a%of 

Covered Covered 
Pa;troll Pa;troll 

$6,797,790 (54)% 
$6,628,356 (105)% 

6,843,625 (77)% 
6,900,605 (75)% 
6,629,475 (77)% 
6,358,008 (75)% 

UAALas 
a%of 

Covered Covered 
Pa;troll Pa~roll 

$3,698,169 799% 
3,554,403 807% 
3,378,821 861% 
3,324,723 852% 
3,237,308 861% 
3,124,938 922% 

UAAL as 
a%of 

Covered Covered 
Pa)-'roll Pa)-'roll 

$3,148,947 743% 
2,996,974 711% 
2,897,685 767% 
2,922,383 779% 
2,961,577 771% 
2,643,335 878% 



CITY OF WHEELING 
DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION TRUSTS -

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

II. SCHEDULES OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS AND OTHER CONTRIBUTING 
ENTITIES 

Fiscal Year 
2008 
2007 
2006 
2005 
2004 
2003 

Fiscal Year 
2008 
2007 
2006 
2005 
2004 
2003 

Fiscal Year 
2008 
2007 
2006 
2005 
2004 
2003 

Employee's Pension and Relief Fund 
Annual Required Percentage 

Contribution Contributed 
$ 0 100% 

o 100% 
o 100% 
o 100% 
o 100% 
o 100% 

Firemen's Pension and Relief Fund 
Annual Required Percentage 

Contribution Contributed 
$ 2,169,436 124% 

2,072,412 135% 
1,964,678 136% 
1,847,058 131% 
1,494,008 155% 
1,417,814 135% 

Policemen's Pension and Relief Fund 
Annual Required Percentage 
Contribution Contributed 

$ 2,024,024 125% 
1,938,914 137% 
1,865,202 138% 
1,739,457 1330/0 
1,442,777 156% 
1,367,193 137% 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
GENERAL FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

Variance Actual 
Actual Accrual Actual Cash Basis 

Budgeted Amounts Budget (Cash) and other Modified Over (Under) 
Original Final Basis Adjustments Accrual Basis Final Budget 

REVENUES: 
Taxes 

General property $ 4,257,621 $ 4,407,621 $ 4,340,758 $ (5,425) $ 4,335,333 $ (66,863) 
Business and occupation 9,600,000 9,600,000 10,022,664 24,527 10,047,191 422,664 
Utilities 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,308,940 7,921 1,316,861 108,940 
Hotel/motel 1,350,000 1,350,000 1,141,180 (10,109) 1,131,071 (208,820) 
Wine/liquor tax 300,000 300,000 328,377 (24,216) 304,161 28,377 
Miscellaneous 174,000 174,000 169,160 6,832 175,992 (4,840) 

Licenses and permits 793,000 793,000 791,641 15,647 807,288 (1,359) 
Fines and forfeits 383,000 383,000 391,810 391,810 8,810 
Intergovernmental 

Federal government 124,828 172,187 329,075 47,685 376,760 156,888 
State government 
Local government 600,000 600,000 594,939 (85,000) 509,939 (5,061) 

Charges for services 5,278,935 5,333,935 5,063,231 242,713 5,305,944 (270,704) 
Video lottery and table gaming 1,800,000 2,000,000 2,147,361 51,242 2,198,603 147,361 
Charges to other funds 370,000 370,000 360,811 (360,811) (9,189) 
Interest 80,619 80,619 14,951 14,951 (65,668) 
Miscellaneous revenue 90,000 90,000 157,634 374 158,008 67,634 

Total revenue 26,402,003 26,854,362 27,162,532 (88,620) 27,073,912 308,170 
Fund balance, appropriated 792,000 1,332,776 (1,332,776) 

Total revenue and fund balance 27,194,003 28,187,138 27,162,532 (88,620) 27,073,912 (1,024,606) 

EXPENDITURES: 
Current 

General government 3,231,891 3,615,345 3,081,082 (131,340) 2,949,742 (534,263) 
Public safety 14,416,295 14,799,685 14,441,879 (292,809) 14,149,070 (357,806) 
Streets and transportation 6,256,788 6,402,151 5,992,856 9,734 6,002,590 (409,295) 
Health and sanitation 1,676,442 1,713,136 1,506,380 (9,132) 1,497,248 (206,756) 
Culture and recreation 1,774,140 1,817,974 1,689,277 (356) 1,688,921 (128,697) 
Social services 78,447 78,847 71,445 (68,344) 3,101 (7,402) 

Debt Service 
Principal retirement 204,950 204,950 
Interest 34,736 34,736 

Total expenditures 27,434,003 28,427,138 26,782,919 (252,561) 26,530,358 (1,644,219) 

Excess (deficieney) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures (240,000) (240,000) 379,613 163,941 543,554 619,613 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Proceeds under capital lease 106,940 106,940 
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 20,875 20,875 20,875 
Transfers in 1,240,000 1,240,000 1,240,000 1,240,000 
Transfers out (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (245,335) (1,245,335) 
Total other financing 
sources and uses 240,000 240,000 260,875 (138,395) 122,480 20,875 

Net change in fund balance $ $ $ 640,488 $ 25,546 $ 666,034 $ 640,488 

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2008 $ 4,304,915 

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2009 $ 4,970,949 
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REVENUES: 
Coal serverance taxes 
Interest and other 

Total revenues 
Appropriated fund balance 
Total revenues and fund balance 

EXPENDITURES: 
Current 

General government 
Streets and transportation 

Total expenditures 

Revenue over (under) expenditures 

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2008 

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2009 

CITY OF WHEELING 
COAL SEVERANCE FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

$ 

$ 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Over 

Original Final Actual (Under) 

83,500 $ 83,500 $ 154,699 $ 71,199 
1,500 1,500 741 (759) 

85,000 85,000 155,440 70,440 
83,026 (83,026) 

85,000 168,026 155,440 12,586 

85,000 168,026 154,050 13,976 

85,000 168,026 154,050 13,976 

$ $ 1,390 =$====~1,3;,;9=0= 

$ 77,027 

$ 78,417 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectables): 
Loans receivable 
Intergovernmental 
Due from other funds 
Prepaids and deposits 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted taxes receivable (net of allowance) 
Restricted accrued interest receivable 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 
Liabilities: 

Accounts payable 
Notes Payable 
Accrued Interest 
Due to other funds 
Deferred revenues 

Unearned revenue 
Taxes 

Total liabilities 

FUND BALANCES 
Unreserved, reported in: 

Special revenue fund 
Debt service fund 

Reserved for: 
Community Development 
Public Safety 
Encumbrances 
Debt service 

Total fund balances 

Total liabilities and fund balances 

Special Revenue 
Community 

Development 
Fund 

$ 1,996 

1,191,251 
122,656 

1,315,903 

108,270 

14,386 

385,491 

508,147 

807,756 

807,756 

$ 1,315,903 

Ci!l: of Wheeling 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2009 

Special Revenue Debt Service 

Consolidated Debt Servicc 
Investment Fund Fund 

$ 2,691,671 $ 

1,879 
60,104 10,473 

316,205 
8,902 

2,753,654 335,580 

56,989 
125,000 
37,864 

628 1,000 

107,347 
6,418 

327,828 7,418 

2,425,826 

328,162 
2,425,826 328,162 

$ 2,753,654 $ 335,580 

(lOl) 

Special Revenue Special Revenue Special Revenue 
Municipal Total Nonmajor 

Stabilization Public Safety Governmental 
Fund TIF Fund Fund Funds 

$ 1,023,111 $ $ 180,735 $ 3,897,513 

1,191,251 
19,036 143,571 

628 71,205 

475,120 791,325 
21,963 30,865 

181 181 
1,023,111 497,892 199,771 6,125,911 

165,259 
125,000 
37,864 
16,014 

492,838 
16,354 22,772 

16,354 859,747 

1,023,111 3,448,937 

142,104 949,860 
199,771 199,771 

339,434 667,596 
1,023,111 481,538 199,771 5,266,164 

$ 1,023,111 $ 497,892 $ 199,771 $ 6,125,911 



City of Wheeling 
Combining Statement of Revenues, EXllenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2009 

Special Revenue Special Revenue Deht Service Special Revenue Special Revenue Special Revenue 

Community Municipal Total Nonmajor 
Development Consolidated Debt Service Stabilization Public Safety Governmental 

Fund Investment Fund Fund Fund T1F Fund Fund Funds 

REVENUES 
General property taxes $ $ $ 204,237 $ $ $ $ 204,237 

TIF property taxes 695,235 695,235 

Fines and forfeits 51,981 51,981 

Intergovernmental 

Federal 1,327,199 320,445 87,644 1,735,288 

State 10,000 10,000 

Local 70,822 4,200 75,022 

Interest 4,254 30,777 1,517 7,176 7,843 688 52,255 

Miscellaneous 148,675 9,499 158,174 

Total revenues 1,331,453 580,719 205,754 7,176 703,078 154,012 2,982,192 

EXPENDITURES 
Current: 

General government 841,200 41,281 9 673,509 1,555,999 

Public Safety 58,000 814,640 140,013 1,012,653 

Streets and transportation 126,967 98,618 225,585 

Health and sanitation 293,398 148,754 442,152 

Culture and recreation 84,922 62,751 147,673 

Social Services 67,062 876 67,938 

Debt Service 
Principal 125,000 325,000 450,000 
Interest 91,290 318,805 410,095 
Costs of issuance 48,250 48,250 

Total Expenditures 1,471,549 1,383,210 643,805 9 721,759 140,013 4,360,345 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (140,096) (802,491 ) (438,051 ) 7,167 (18,681) 13,999 (1,378,153) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 

Proceeds from capital leases 
Proceeds from bonds payable 715,000 715,000 

Transfers in 591,788 648,195 1,000,000 7,500 2,247,483 

Transfers out (7,500) (1,000,000) (870,839) (9,925) (1,888,264) 

Total other financing sources and uses 584,288 648,195 ( 155,839) (2,425) 1,074,219 

Net change in fund balances (140,096) (218,203) 210,144 7,167 (174,520) 11,574 (303,934) 

Fund balances - beginning as originally stated 947,852 2,644,029 118,018 1,015,944 656,058 5,381,901 

Prior period adjustment 188,197 188,197 

Fund balances - beginning as restated 947,852 2,644,029 118,018 1,015,944 656,058 188,197 5,570,098 

Fund balances - ending $ 807,756 $ 2,425,826 $ 328,162 $ 1,023,111 $ 481,538 $ 199,771 $ 5,266,164 
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ASSETS 
Cash 
Receivables: 

Contributions 
Accrued interest and dividends 
Due from other funds 
Cash surrender lite insurance policies 

Investments: 
Money markets 
U.S. Government obligations 
U.S. Government agency obligations 
Corporate obligations 
Mutual funds 
Common stock 
Preferred stock 
Common trust funds 

Total investments 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable 
Accrued pension benefits 

Total liabilities 

NET ASSETS 
Net assets held in trust for pension benefits 

City of Wheeling 
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets 

Pension Trust Funds 
June 30, 2009 

Emnlol:ee Firemen's Policemen's 
Retirement and Pension or Relief Pension or 

Benefit Fund Fund Relief Fund 

$ 21,830 $ 810 $ 

102,617 34,203 38,280 
32,819 40,211 27,549 

538,091 565,278 490,887 
3,283,655 1,085,296 1,090,414 
4,029,208 1,339,633 1,310,737 
4,185,627 1,329,639 1,394,791 

59,800 30,351 30,050 
12,628,434 4,432,631 4,752,757 

24,724,814 8,782,828 9,069,636 

24,882,081 8,858,052 9,135,465 

3,025 3,625 57,102 
45,262 118,581 96,774 
48,287 122,206 153,876 

$ 24,833,793 $ 8,735,846 $ 8,981,589 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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wpcn Total Pension 
Pension Fund Trust Funds 

$ 421 $ 23,061 

2,787 2,787 
3,384 178,484 

100,579 
256,576 256,576 

138,732 1,732,988 
5,459,365 

36,761 6,716,339 
185,197 7,095,254 

1,235,290 1,355,491 
498,948 22,312,770 

71,668 71,668 
2,928 2,928 

2,169,524 44,746,802 

2,432,692 45,308,290 

63,752 
260,617 
324,369 

$ 2,432,692 $ 44,983,920 



Cih: of Wheeling 
Combining Statement of Changes in FiduciarY Net Assets 

Pension Trust Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2009 

Emlllo:£ee 
Retirement Firemen's Policemen's 
and Benefit Pension or Pension or 

Fund Relief Fund Relief Fund 
ADDITIONS 
Contributions: 

Employer $ $ 1,762,867 $ 1,796,921 
Plan members 407,376 258,953 221,612 
Insurance premium tax allocation 953,439 801,534 

Total contributions 407,376 2,975,259 2,820,068 
Investment earnings: 

Investment income (loss) (3,061,999) (882,238) (909,218) 
Less: Investment expense (101,748) (33,590) (41,656) 

Net investment income (3,163,747) (915,828) (950,875) 
Other additions: 

Miscellaneous 38,741 6,913 4,999 
Total other additions 38,741 6,913 4,999 

Total additions (2,717,630) 2,066,344 1,874,192 

DEDUCTIONS 
Benefits payments 1,043,025 2,592,168 2,182,894 
Administrative expenses 9,743 7,484 7,666 

Total deductions 1,052,768 2,599,652 2,190,560 

Change in net assets (3,770,399) (533,308) (316,368) 

Net assets held in trust tor pension benefits: 

Net assets - beginning, as originally stated 28,604,192 9,269,154 9,297,957 

Prior period adjustment 

Net assets - beginning, as restated 

Net assets - ending 

28,604,192 9,269,154 9,297,957 

$ 24,833,793 $ 8,735,846 $ 8,981,589 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Total 
WPCD Pension 

Pension Fund Trust Funds 

$ 30,899 $ 3,590,687 
30,730 918,671 

1,754,973 
61,629 6,264,332 

(198,296) (5,051,752) 
(16,501) (193,495) 

(214,797) (5,245,247) 

50,653 
50,653 

(153,168) 1,069,737 

1,239 5,819,326 
2,380 27,273 
3,619 5,846,599 

(156,787) (4,776,862) 

47,171,303 

2,589,479 2,589,479 

2,589,479 49,760,782 

$ 2,432,692 $ 44,983,920 



CITY OF WHEELING 
AGENCY FUNDS 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

Savings 
Bonds 

ASSETS: 

Cash $ 395 

Total assets 395 

LIABILITIES: 

Due to General Fund 394 
Due to other entity 1 

Total liabilities 395 

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 395 
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Total 

$ 395 

395 

394 
1 

395 

$ 395 



CITY OF WHEELING 
WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF STATE AWARDS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

State Grantor/Program Title 

West Virginia Development Office 

Governor's Community Partnership Grant 

Total West Virginia Development Office 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF STATE AWARDS 

(106) 

Identification 
Number 

08LEDAOOOOO 

State 
Expenditures 

$ 10,000 

$ 10,000 

$ 10,000 
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT 
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

GOVER1VMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Mayor and City Council 
of the City of Wheeling, West Virginia: 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of the City of Wheeling, West Virginia, as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2009, which collectively comprise the City of Wheeling, West Virginia'S basic financial 
statements and have issued our report thereon dated March 24, 2010. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City of Wheeling's internal 
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose 
of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Wheeling'S internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Wheeling'S 
internal control over financial reporting. 

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose 
described in the preceding paragraph and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in 
internal control over financial reporting that might be significant deficiencies or material 
weaknesses. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control 
over financial reporting that we consider to be significant deficiencies. 

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
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prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a control 
deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the City of Wheeling's 
ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report financial data reliably in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a 
misstatement of the City of Wheeling's financial statements that is more than inconsequential 
'.\lill not be prevented or detected by the City of Wheeling's internal control. We consider the 
deficiencies, 2009-1 thru 2009-9, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs to be significant deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting. 

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant 
deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the 
financial statements will not be prevented or detected by the City of Wheeling's internal control. 

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose 
described in the first paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies 
in internal control that might be significant deficiencies and, accordingly, would not necessarily 
disclose all significant deficiencies that are also considered to be material weaknesses. However, 
of the significant deficiencies noted above, we consider items 2009-1 thru 2009-7 to be material 
weaknesses. 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Wheeling's financial 
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which 
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. 
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our 
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed 
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards and which are described in the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs as item 2009-10. 

We also noted certain other matters that we reported to management of the City of 
Wheeling in a separate letter dated March 24, 2010. 

The City of Wheeling's response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. We did not audit the City of 
Wheeling's response and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, City Council, 
others within the entity, and federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specific parties. 

Wheeling, West Virginia, 
March 24, 20 I O. 
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REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH REOUIREMENTS 
APPLICABLE TO EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

OVER COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH OMB CIRCULAR A-133 

To the Mayor and City Council 
of the City of Wheeling, West Virginia: 

Compliance 

We have audited the compliance of the City of Wheeling, West Virginia, with the types 
of compliance requirements described in the U.S. Otlice of Management and Budget (OMB) 
Circular A-I33 Compliance Supplement that are applicable to each of its major federal programs 
for the year ended June 30, 2009. The City of Wheeling's major federal programs are identified 
in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs. Compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants 
applicable to each of its major federal programs is the responsibility of the City of Wheeling's 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the City of Wheeling's compliance 
based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained 
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and 
OMB Circular A-l33, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, 
Those standards and OMB Circular A-l33 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program 
occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City of Wheeling's 
compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Wheeling's compliance 
with those requirements, 

In our opinion, the City of Wheeling complied, in all material respects, with the 
requirements referred to above that are applicable to each of its major federal programs for the 
year ended June 30, 2009, 
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Internal Control Over Compliance 

The management of the City of Wheeling is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grants applicable to federal programs. In planning and performing our audit, we considered 
the City of Wheeling's internal control over compliance with the requirements that could have a 
direct and material effect on a major federal program in order to determine our auditing 
procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Wheeling'S internal control over 
compliance. 

A control deficiency in an entity's internal control over compliance exists when the 
design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course 
of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 
control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the entity's 
ability to administer a federal program such that there is more than a remote likelihood that 
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is more than 
inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the entity's internal control. 

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant 
deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that material noncompliance with a 
type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented or detected by the 
entity's internal control. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose 
described in the first paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies 
in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. We did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses, as defined above. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, City Council, 
others within the entity and federal and awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specific parties. 

Wheeling, West Virginia, 
March 24, 2010. 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

Federal 
CFDA Identification 

Federal Grantor/Program Title Number Number 

U.S. Department of Honsing 
and Urban Development 

Direct Programs: 
Community Development Block Grant 14.218 B07-MC-S4-000S 

B08-MC-54-0005 

Home Investment Partnerships Program 14.239 M07-DC-540204 
M08-DC-540204 

Total Us. Department 0/ H. UD. 

U.S. Department of Commerce 
Pass-Through Programs From: 

West Virginia Del2artment of Militan: Affairs 
and Public Safety 

Public Safety Interoperable Communications 
Grant Program 11.555 2007-GS-H7-0046 

Total US. Department o/Commerce 

U.S. Department of Justice 
Direct Programs: 

After School Program for At-Risk Program 16.541 2008-JL-FX-0 134 

Bullet Proof Vest Program 16.607 FY 2007 Regular Fund 

Pass-Through Programs From: 
West Virginia Del2artment of Military Affairs 

and Public Safety 
Justice Assistance Grants 16.579 2007-DJ-BX-0073 

2008-DJ-BX-002 
INI-#l.l 

Enforcing Underage Drinking Laws 16.727 2007-AH-FX-0048 
2008-AH-FX-0039 

Total Us. Department of Justice 

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 
(III) 

Federal 
Expenditures 

$ 1,433,379 
21,656 

1,455,035 

371,587 
184,015 
555,601 

$ 2,010,637 

$ 70,628 

$ 70,628 

$ 21,149 

4,910 

94,309 
27,987 
83,408 

205,703 

1,280 
22,146 
23,426 

$ 255,188 



CITY OF WHEELING 
WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL A WARDS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

Federal 
CFDA Identification 

Federal Grantor/Program Title Number Number 

U.S. Department of Homeland Security 
Pass-Through Programs From: 

West Virginia Del2artment of MilitarY Affairs 
and Public Safety 

Homeland Security Grant 97.067 2006-GE-T6-0039 
2007 -GE-T7 -0041 

Total us. Department of Homeland Security 

U.S. Department of Transportation 
Pass-through Programs From: 

West Virginia Del2artment of MilitarY Affairs 
and Public Safety 

Governor's Highway Safety Program 20.600 F08-HS-04 
(Highway Safety Cluster) F09-HS-04 

Total us. Department a/Transportation 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 
(112) 

Federal 
Expenditures 

$ 4,618 
134,650 
139,268 

$ 139,268 

$ 120,255 
199,509 
319,764 

$ 319,764 

$ 2,795,486 



CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINA 
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES 

OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

1. Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the 
federal grant activity of the City of Wheeling, West Virginia, and is presented on the accrual 
basis of accounting. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the 
requirements of OMB Circular A-I33, Audits of States. Local Governments. and Nonprofit 
Organizations. Therefore, some amounts presented in this schedule may ditfer from amounts 
presented in, or used in the preparation of the general-purpose financial statements. 

2. Sub-Recipients 

The City of Wheeling, acting as a pass-through agency, provided funding passed 
through from federal agencies to various SUb-recipients under the Community Development 
Block Grant, Governor's Highway Safety Program (Cluster), and Justice Assistance Grants 
during the fiscal year. 

3. Non-Cash Awards 

During 2009, the City of Wheeling received mobile radio equipment from the 
Ohio County Commission as part of the Public Safety Interoperable Communication grant 
program. The value received in the form of non-cash assistance was $70,628. 
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CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

SECTION I - SUMMARY OF AUDITOR'S RESULTS 

Financial Statement 
Type of auditor's report issued: 
Internal control over financial reporting: 
• Material weakness identified? 
• Significant deficiencies identified that are 

not considered to be material weaknesses? 
Noncompliance material to financial 

statements noted? 

Federal Awards 
Internal control over major programs: 
• Material weakness identified? 
• Significant deficiencies identified that are 

not considered to be material weaknesses? 
Type of auditor's report issued on compliance 

for major programs: 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required 

to be reported in accordance with section 
SI0(a) ofOMB Circular A-I33? 

Identification of major programs: 

CFDA NumberCs) 

14.218 
14.239 
20.600 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
type A and type B programs: 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? 

(114) 

Unqualified 

X Yes No 

x Yes None reported 

___ Yes X No 

___ Yes X No 

___ Yes X None reported 

Unqualified 

___ Yes X No 

Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

Community Development Block Grant 
Home Investment Partnerships Program 
Governor Highway Safety Cluster 

$ 300.000 

___ Yes X No 



CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND OUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 

Preparation of Financial Statements 
2009-1 

CONDITION: 

The City of Wheeling is unable to prepare financial statements and footnotes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). 

CRITERIA: 

Under Statement on Auditing Standards 112 (SAS 112), the inability of management to prepare 
financial statements is a material weakness. 

CAUSE: 

Management is still developing the expertise necessary to prepare an inclusive set of financial 
statements in the format required by GAAP. 

EFFECT: 

Management is not able to detect material misstatement in the financial statements of the City of 
Wheeling. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The City of Wheeling must continue to improve their financial reporting system in order to 
prepare financial statements and footnotes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. 
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CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND OUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 

Recording of Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 
2009-2 

CONDITION: 

We noted during the audit that the City of Wheeling does not accurately record accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities, including retainage on construction contracts, in various special revenue 
funds. 

CRITERIA: 

Generally accepted accounting principles require expenses and the corresponding payables and 
liabilities to be recorded in the year in which they are incurred. 

CAUSE: 

The City of Wheeling does not have the appropriate controls in place related to the recording of 
payables and accrued liabilities. 

EFFECT: 

Expenses, payables and accrued liabilities of the City of Wheeling were understated at year end. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The City of \Vheeling must recognize the basic concept of proper cutoff and accrue payables 
properly at year end. 
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CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

SECTION 11- FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS, continued 

Recording and Reconciling a/Transfers 
2009-3 

CONDITION: 

We noted during the audit that the City of Wheeling failed to appropriately record and reconcile 
transfers between funds. 

CRITERIA: 

Generally accepted accounting principles require transfers between funds (governmental and 
proprietary) to be identified, recorded, and reconciled appropriately. 

CAUSE: 

The City of Wheeling does not track and reconcile all transfers between funds accurately. 

EFFECT: 

Misstatement of the City's revenue and expenses at year-end related to improper recording of 
transfers. In addition, the transfers in and out do not net to zero as they should. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The City of Wheeling must monitor and reconcile transfers between funds on a consistent basis 
in order to ensure that all transfers have been identified, recorded, and reconciled. 
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CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS, continued 

Recording of Public Safety Fund Activity 
2009-4 

CONDITION: 

The City of Wheeling did not initially record Public Safety Fund activity. 

CRITERIA: 

Generally accepted accounting principles requires all significant funds and fund activity be 
recorded within the financial statements. 

CAUSE: 

The City of Wheeling does not have controls in place to monitor and record all fund information. 

EFFECT: 

The omission of the Public Safety Fund's activity would have resulted in the City's assets, 
revenues, and expenditures being understated. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The City of Wheeling must establish controls to ensure that all information IS recorded 
appropriately. 
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CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND OUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS, continued 

Recording of Activity in General Ledger 
2009-5 

CONDITION: 

We noted that the City of Wheeling records only summarized activity within the general ledgers 
of a number of funds. No subsidiary ledgers are maintained for any of the summarized activity. 
In addition, journal entries made during the year are not recorded and maintained in separate 
listings with the necessary supporting documentation. 

CRITERIA: 

Adequate internal control procedures dictate that general ledgers which include all individual 
transactions in appropriate detail be utilized in either the general ledger or in subsidiary ledgers. 
Journal entries made during the year should be maintained separately with the supporting 
documentation. The general ledger should contain all necessary controls to provide a complete 
audit trail. 

CAUSE: 

The City of Wheeling does not always record financial information in certain funds in a timely 
manner and summarizes activity to get the information entered quicker. The City also does not 
have the necessary controls in place related to the maintaining of journal entries in separate 
listings. 

EFFECT: 

Extensive procedures were necessary to substantiate individual transactions within certain funds. 
There is a greater risk of material misstatement occurring and not being detected by 
management. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The City needs to record all transactions individually within the general ledger or in supporting 
subsidiary ledgers. The City also needs to maintain separate listings of journal entries made 
during the year along with the necessary supporting documentation. 
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CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS, continued 

Recording offixed assets 
2009-6 

CONDITION: 

The City of Wheeling does not properly record all fixed asset additions during the year. 

CRITERIA: 

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires that all fixed assets over established 
thresholds be capitalized and depreciated over their useful life. 

CAUSE: 

The City of Wheeling does not have the appropriate controls in place to ensure that all fixed 
asset additions have been recorded. 

EFFECT: 

The City's tixed assets were understated and expenses were overstated at year end. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The City of Wheeling must establish controls ensuring that all fixed assets have been 
appropriately capitalized in the financial statements. 
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CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FQR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS, continued 

Schedule olExpenditures of Federal Awards Not Prepared 
2009-7 

CONDITION: 

During the course of the audit, we noted that the City does not maintain a Schedule of 
Expenditures of Federal Awards. 

CRITERIA: 

The U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-i33, Audits of States, Local 
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations requires the inclusion of a Schedule of 
Expenditures of Federal Awards within the City'S financial statements. 

CAUSE: 

The City of Wheeling's controls over the receipt of federal grants do not include the preparation 
of a Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards. 

EFFECT: 

Federal expenditure totals for nwnerous grants were incorrect at year end and audit adjustments 
were necessary. 

RECQMMENDA TION: 

The City of Wheeling must prepare and maintain a complete and accurate Schedule of 
Expenditures of F ederal Awards. 
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CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND OUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS, continued 

Sanitation Receivable and Revenue Recording 
2009-8 

CONDITION: 

During the course of the audit, we noted that the City did not properly account for revenue 
earned during the fiscal year that was not billed until after year end. 

CRITERIA: 

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires that all revenues earned and not yet 
received be appropriately recognized as receivable and revenue within the financial statements. 

CAUSE: 

The City of Wheeling does not have the appropriate controls in place to ensure that sanitation 
receivables and revenue have been accounted for properly. 

EFFECT: 

The City's sanitation receivable and revenue were understated and required an audit adjustment. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The City of Wheeling must establish controls to ensure that revenue and receivables are 
accounted for properly. 
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CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND OUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS, continued 

Recording a/Non-Cash Grant Award 
2009-9 

CONDITION: 

During the course of the audit, we noted that the City did not record the revenue and 
corresponding expenses and/or fixed assets related to a non-cash grant award. 

CRITERIA: 

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires that all revenues and 
expenditures/fixed assets, cash and non-cash, be recorded within the financial statements. 

CAUSE: 

The City of Wheeling does not have the appropriate controls in place to ensure that non-cash 
awards are recorded in the financial statements. 

EFFECT: 

The City's revenue, expenditures and fixed assets were understated and required an adjustment. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The City of Wheeling must establish controls that will ensure that non-cash awards are recorded 
in the financial statements. 
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CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND OUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS, continued 

Debt Service Coverage (Water and WPCD Funds) 
2009-10 

CONDITION: 

The City of Wheeling Water and WPCD Departments failed to meet the debt service rate 
coverage requirements in accordance with the covenants of the bond issues for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2009. 

CRITERIA: 

The 1997 Bond Ordinance, Section 6.04, states in part, that: 

The schedule or schedules of rates and charges shall at all times be adequate to produce 
Gross Revenues from the System sufticient to make the prescribed payments into the funds and 
accounts created hereunder. Such schedules or schedules of rates and charges shall be revised 
from time to time, whenever necessary, so that the aggregate of the rates and charges will be 
sufficient for such purposes. In order to assure full and continuous performance of this covenant 
with a margin for contingencies and temporary unanticipated reduction in income and revenues, 
the Issuer covenants and agrees that the schedule or schedules of rates and charges from time to 
time enacted with all appeals having expired shall be sufticient at all times to produce projected 
annual Net Revenue equal to not less than the sum of (i) 125% of the Maximum Annual Debt 
Service on the Bonds in any Fiscal Year. 

Similar requirements exist in the 2005 and 2006 Bond Ordinances. 

CAUSE: 

The City of Wheeling Water and WPCD rates are not sufticient to produce adequate Gross 
Revenue. 

EFFECT: 

The maximum annual debt service coverage was not met, in accordance with the covenants of 
the bond issues, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. The coverage was short by 
approximately $731,000 or 20%. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The City must institute Water and WPCD rates that will produce adequate Gross Revenues in 
order to achieve adequate Debt Service Coverage. 

(124) 



CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND OUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

SECTION III - FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

None noted. 
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CITY OF WHEELING 
CITY COUNTY BLDG., 1500 CHAPLINE STREET 

WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 26003 

City of Wheeling Responses to Financial Statement and Major Federal 
Award Programs Audits 

Preparation of Financial Statements 
2009-1 

The City will continue to improve their financial reporting in accordance with GAAP. The City 
will in the near future upgrade its financial reporting software that is GASB 34 compatible. 
Additionally, the Finance Department's staff will attend training to improve their government 
financial reporting skills. 

Recording of Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 
2009-2 

The City will make every effort to properly record accounts payable and accrued liabilities at the 
end of the fiscal year for all funds, including the special revenue and retainage on construction 
contracts. 

Recording and Reconciling of Transfers 
2009-3 

The City will monitor on a monthly basis all transfers that occur among the City'S Funds, so they 
can be recorded and reconciled. 

Recording of Public Fund Safety Activity 
2009-4 

Activity was recorded by the City during the audit and will be maintained in future fiscal years. 

Recording of Activity in General Ledger 
2009-5 

The City will maintain supporting documentation for journal entries made during the fiscal year. 

Fixed Assets 
2009-6 

The City will improve monitoring of fixed asset additions so they may be appropriately 
capitalized in the financial statements. 
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Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Not Prepared 
2009-7 

The City will prepare and maintain a Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards. 

Sanitation Receivable and Revenue Recording 
2009-8 

The City will record the proper sanitation receivable at fiscal year end. 

Recording of Non-Cash Grant Award 
2009-9 

The City will strive to record all expenditures including non-cash awards. 

Debt Service Coverage not been met (Water and WPCD Funds) 
2009-10 

WPCD implemented a 23% rate increase and Water a 5% rate increase. Additionally, refunding 
of the 1997 Revenue Bonds will occur to maintain proper Debt Service Coverage. 
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CITY OF WHEELING, WEST VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND OUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009 

Status of Prior Year Financial Statement Findings 

2008-1 - Preparation 0/ Financial Statements - REPEATED 

2008-2 - Recording 0/ Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities- REPEATED 

2008-3 - Recording and Reconciling a/Transfers - REPEATED 

2008-4 - Recording 0/ Fiduciary Pension Trust Fund - CORRECTED 

2008-5 - Enforcement a/Collections (Water and WPCD)- CORRECTED 

Status of Prior Year Single Audit Findings 

2008-6 - Grant No. EMW-2007-FO-02686 
Assistance to Firefighters Program - CFDA No. 97.044 NO AWARD IN 2009 
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